

#### TOWARDS PAY EQUITY

An exploratory study of national wage statistics in the Nordic countries

## Contents

1. About the report	3
2. Summary	6
3. Equal pay for work of equal value – a look at previous research	8
4. Reports on gender and pay from the Nordic Countries	13
5. Classifying occupations	20
6. Pay and statistical measures	32
7. National statistics on pay and gender in different occupations – and their shortcomings	38
8. Examples based on information in national statistical databases	47
9. Education, gender, and pay	65
10. Summary of recommendations	70
References	73
Appendix: Method	81
About this publication	84

This publication is also available online in a web-accessible version at: <u>https://pub.norden.org/temanord2025-545</u>



## 1. About the report

In the Nordic countries, statistics are published annually on the size of the gender pay gap – the difference between men's and women's pay. This pay gap is partly due to the fact that men and women are paid differently for similar work, but a more significant explanation is that men and women work in different occupations with different levels of pay. According to the EU's Pay Transparency Directive 2023/970, it should be possible to compare pay levels between different jobs if they are equal, i.e. have equal levels of requirements. The UN's 2030 Agenda has the subgoal of eliminating the gender pay gap for work of equal value. Although the Nordic countries have long had legislation on equal pay for work of equal value, such comparisons have rarely been carried out and have not led to a reduction in the pay gap. However, as the Pay Transparency Directive is binding, the issue has been raised.

To help reduce the pay gaps that still exist between women and men in the Nordic countries, the Nordic Council of Ministers initiated a project on equal pay for work of equal value in the Nordic region. The project was carried out by the Nordic Council of Ministers' co-operation body Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK), based at the Swedish Secretariat for Gender Research, and has resulted in this publication, among others. The report was written by Minna Salminen-Karlsson and Anna Fogelberg Eriksson, Sweden. Salminen-Karlsson is an associate professor of sociology, affiliated with the Centre for Gender Research, Uppsala University, and Fogelberg Eriksson is a senior associate professor of education at the Department of Behavioural Sciences and Learning, Linköping University.

The report presents a pilot study that investigated how available official statistics can be used to analyse pay differences between women and men in work of equal value at the national level in the Nordic countries. In particular, statistics from Finland, Norway and Sweden were analysed. The pilot study examined how statistics can be applied in the case of occupations that have already been assessed as being of equal value, i.e. as if the occupations were equal. The report was originally written in Swedish and subsequently translated into English. This publication is the second in a series of reports from the project on equal pay for work of equal value in the Nordic countries. The first report, authored by Eberhard Stüber, describes legislation and policy initiatives in the Nordic countries, including a discussion of the implementation of the EU Pay Transparency Directive with a focus on the theme of work of equal value. The third and final report discusses various explanations for the undervaluation of women's work in a gendersegregated labour market based on a survey of social partners and other key actors in the Nordic countries.

Special thanks go to the members of the project reference group: Byrial Rastad Bjørst, PhD, lawyer at The Danish Association of Professional Technicians (DK); Kevät Nousiainen, Professor Emerita, PhD, at the University of Turku (FI); Þorgerður Jennýjardóttir Einarsdottír, Professor of Gender Studies at the University of Iceland (IS); and Mari Teigen, Professor and Research Director of CORE – Centre for Research on Gender Equality at the Institute for Social Research (NO).

Thanks also go to Eberhard Stüber, Maria Forthun Hoen, Liza Reisel and Paula Koskinen-Sandberg who provided valuable input and information for the pilot study.

#### Overview

- The report begins with a summary.
- The report then presents a review of previous research on gender pay gaps in relation to gender-segregated labour markets, the valuation of work dominated by women, work of equal value, and the Nordic model on pay formation and the gender pay gap.
- This is followed by a section examining how national statistics on gender and pay have been used and reported by government actors.
- The next section examines occupational classifications in the Nordic countries, a key starting point for comparisons of pay across different occupations at the national level.
- This is followed by a description of pay measures used and the significance of the choice between mean and median as statistical measures.
- This is followed by a section addressing the availability of statistics in this area from national statistics offices and some shortcomings identified in these statistics.
- Subsequent sections in the report then explore a variety of aspects in the national statistics:

- pairwise comparisons of pay levels across a number of sample occupations with similar requirements;
- trends over time;
- descriptions and comparisons of pay levels for occupations in different sectors (private-public) of the labour market;
- pay and gender in relation to full-time and part-time work, age, immigrant background; and
- The report concludes with recommendations from the pilot study.
- A methodological description of the pilot study can be found in the appendix.



## 2. Summary

The report presents the results of a pilot study that investigated how available official statistics can be used to analyse pay differences between women and men for work of equal value at the national level in the Nordic countries. In particular, statistics from Finland, Norway and Sweden were analysed. The pilot study took place within the framework of the Nordic Council of Ministers' project on equal pay for work of equal value in the Nordic countries.

A review of previous research found that the gender pay gap persists despite laws and regulations. A common explanation for the pay gap is the gender-segregated labour market, i.e. that the labour market is divided into occupations dominated by men and those dominated by women. Occupations dominated by women are often undervalued in terms of pay compared to those dominated by men with equal requirements. Legislation has not been able to achieve equal pay for work of equal value, and the Nordic pay formation model has actually been counterproductive to closing the gender pay gap.

National occupational classifications are important for pay comparisons. Although all countries follow an international standard, occupational classifications vary to some extent between them. The way in which pay is defined, i.e. the pay measures used, in national statistics also varies between countries. There is also some variance in how monthly pay is defined, and hourly pay is sometimes used as a measure of pay in the statistics. This affects the comparability of pay for work of equal value both within and between the Nordic countries. The statistical variables mean and median are both used to measure pay gaps but can yield different results. With regard to national statistics on pay and gender across occupations, each Nordic country has its own specific challenges and shortcomings that affect the comparability of pay between occupations in which work of equal value is performed.

This study examined how statistics can be used based on existing assessments of work of equal value between various occupations. Example comparisons between occupations dominated by men and those dominated by women indicate significant pay gaps. Pay also varies between the private and public sectors, which means that pay gaps between different occupations doing equal work vary when sectoral affiliation is taken into account. While the pay gap has narrowed somewhat over time, there are still significant differences between occupations and sectors.

In general, women in the Nordic countries are more likely to work part time than men, and the general pattern is that part-time work has a negative impact on pay. However, the prevalence of part-time work varies across occupations and the extent of working hours can affect pay in different ways.

Although job requirements, and not the characteristics of the worker, should be the basis for assessing if occupations are equal, factors such as age and having a migrant background affect pay and the pay gap at the national level. Age is also included as an indicator for the UN 2030 Agenda (UN 2025) target. In terms of educational attainment, occupations dominated by women often have higher educational requirements than those dominated by men at the same pay level.

#### Recommendations

The recommendations from the pilot study set out basic requirements for official national statistics and stipulate the statistics that should be available for analyses on gender and pay for work of equal value at the national level:

- Information describing occupations dominated by women and those dominated by men in equal level of detail
- Statistics on pay at the most detailed level of occupational classification, as far as possible
- Statistics on the number of men and women in various occupations in a shared table with pay
- Data on both mean and median pay for occupations included in the classification system
- Pay data for the private and public sectors (public sector data should be divided into central and local government) both individually and combined
- Readily available data on the number of men and women working full time and part time in each occupation and on full-time and part-time pay
- Data on age structures in different occupations in a shared table with pay
- The number of domestic and foreign-born workers within an occupation, broken down by gender and mean and median pay, at least in occupations with a significant number of foreign-born workers
- Data on education linked to gender and pay
- Time series, at least for data on both mean and median pay and the number of men and women in occupations at the four-digit level of the classification systems, by sector and for sectors combined.



# 3. Equal pay for work of equal value – a look at previous research

This section of the report provides an overview of previous research on the gender pay gap, particularly in relation to gender-segregated labour markets, the valuation of work and the Nordic pay formation model.

#### Causes of the gender pay gap

All Nordic countries have passed laws to address the fact that women are generally paid less than men. The EU has also provided recommendations and, most recently, introduced binding regulations through the Pay Transparency Directive (2023/970) to close the pay gap in Member States. However, despite laws and regulations to close the pay gap being in place for decades, the pay gaps remain stubborn. In the Nordic countries, the pay gap ranges from 9.3%, in Iceland, to 15.5%, in Finland (Eurostat, 2022). In recent years, the pay gaps in Sweden and Finland have not narrowed at all, and in Sweden it widened slightly between 2022 and 2023 (Ekberg et al., 2024). In Norway, while the trend of the pay gap narrowing has not completely ended (Grini & Fløtre, 2023), the difference in average monthly pay remained almost unchanged, about 13%, between 2015 and 2022 (Hoen et al., 2024).

Causes of the gender pay gap are found in several areas. Policy decisions taken in the Nordic countries to address the pay gap seem to be based mainly on theories of discrimination, with employers required to map and analyse their pay practices to prevent gender pay discrimination. However, it has been shown that even when gender pay audits are mandated by law, many employers fail to carry them out, or carry them out without really trying to identify and address the gender pay gap, which in turn contributes to the persistence of differences in pay between men and women (Kumlin, 2016; Måwe, 2019). What Stockdale and Nader (2013) call sociological theories suggests that the pay gap is also related to structural factors in the labour market. Various analyses of the pay gap point to gender segregation of the labour market as the most important factor. In the Nordic countries, the majority of occupations and jobs are dominated either by men or by women (Måwe, 2019; Wagner & Teigen, 2021). This means that even if all employers individually endeavoured to pay their employees equally, some proportion of the pay gap would remain: Employer A may apply gender-neutral pay for its employees in a field dominated by women, as may Employer B, whose employees work in a field dominated by men with better average pay, thus while the men at Employer A and women at Employer B would receive equally high pay as their colleagues of the opposite sex, the general gender pay gap within the labour market would not be reduced (cf. Salminen-Karlsson & Fogelberg Eriksson, 2023).

Leaving the task of addressing unfair pay differences between women and men to individual employers ignores the gender segregation of the labour market, which coincides with the traditional undervaluation, in terms of pay, of jobs predominantly performed by women.

#### Gender-segregated labour market and pay

Gender pay gaps at the occupational level are recognised and taken into account in reports published by authorities across the Nordic countries at the national level (e.g. Ekberg et al., 2023a; Grini & Fløtre, 2023). In these reports, occupation is considered a variable like age, labour market sector or education level. They show that occupation as a variable generally explains the majority of the gender pay gap at the national level, without further analysis. More detailed analyses of this variable are necessary to formulate policies that promote equal pay. In this regard, it is particularly important to consider the gender segregation of the labour market.

The theory of the gender-segregated (or segmented) labour market explains the gender pay gap as an expression of the general labour market being divided into two, with the employees on one side (primary) being mostly men and the other (secondary) mostly women. These labour markets have different general levels of pay, as well as different working conditions, and movement between them is limited (Gaweł & Mroczek-Dabrowska, 2020; Semenza et al., 2021). O'Reilly et al. (2015) reviewed the literature on the gender pay gap in several countries over the past 40 years and found that gender segregation of the labour market exists in all countries and persists because few workers cross this boundary, although there is some variation between different national cultural contexts.

Nicolás-Martínez et al. (2023) argue that segregation can be traced to the roles women are assigned in society, not least with regard to health and social care. The

Nordic countries have a high percentage of women in the workforce, but they also have highly segregated labour markets (Ellingsaeter, 2013; Kowalewska, 2023). This has been attributed to the existence of a large public sector with a predominantly female labour force; the development of the welfare state meant that the care work previously performed by women in the home shifted to paid work in the service of society. Unpaid work in the home was replaced by low-paid work in the public sphere (Rubery & Grimshaw, 2015; Wagner et al., 2020).

In the Nordic countries, the solution to reducing the gender pay gap is rarely seen as pay equalisation between occupations; instead, women are encouraged to move to male-dominated occupations with higher pay (Koskinen Sandberg & Saari, 2019; Wagner et al., 2020). However, Peetz (2015) notes that segregation is maintained by both workers and employers. Workers have grown up in a world with gendersegregated jobs, and it is often easier for them to visualise their future in an occupation in which they are not a minority in terms of gender. Employers, on the other hand, have specific ideas about the kind of employees that best meet their needs, which may favour a particular gender.

A gender-segregated labour market does not imply a pay gap in itself. The pay gap arises when work in the part of the labour market that is dominated by women is valued less in terms of pay. Undervaluation of work dominated by women means that occupations dominated by women are paid less than those dominated by men, despite comparable working conditions and requirements, when there is no other reasonable justification for this situation (Grimshaw & Rubery, 2007).

According to Rubery and Grimshaw (2015), the size of the pay gap is directly related to how society values public services. In the Nordic welfare states, the value of public services has not been reflected in the national pay structure, as exemplified by Saari et al. (2021) with nurses in Finland. Saari et al. note that low 'female wages' for care occupations are not only a historical phenomenon but also institutionalised in contemporary wage movements.

Wagner and Teigen (2022) point out that women in the public sector have not been able to use the market-based argument to increase their wages, i.e. they have not been able to threaten to switch to an employer that would pay better wages. One argument for the privatisation of the public sector has been that it allows employees in occupations dominated by women to rely on the market-based argument. However, the intended results have not materialised – privatisation has not been shown to reduce the pay gap, on the contrary, wages of care workers have sometimes deteriorated further as a result of privatisation (Egede Hansen et al., 2023; Thörnquist in SOU 2014:34).

#### Valuing work

In the Nordic countries, except Denmark, where employers are required to ensure equal pay, various job evaluation systems have been recommended to compare male- and female-dominated jobs with different content but similar requirements. A foundational study by Joan Acker (1989) on the evaluation of jobs in the public sector established, as early as 1989, a fact to which Koskinen Sandberg (2017), for example, returns: job evaluation is not a neutral tool. Since it is a question of valuation, it matters how the valuers perceive what is better or worse, or more or less valuable.

What job evaluation systems aim to measure is not really the value of work (to an employer, the organisation, society) but the requirements of work. In this respect, most systems refer to the factors defined by the International Labour Organization (ILO): skills, effort, responsibility and working conditions (ILO, 2013). These factors are also reflected in the EU Pay Transparency Directive (2023/970). Different job evaluation systems define these factors slightly differently, have different subcategories and weight the factors differently, resulting in variation in how valuable (or rather how demanding) different male- and female-dominated jobs are perceived to be. Feminist scholars have pointed out, among other things, that demands in occupations traditionally dominated by women are easily rendered invisible (Bender & Pigeyere, 2016; Steinberg, 1992). These include social skills, mental effort, responsibility for people and stressful working conditions.

Iceland has come the furthest in using job evaluation and pay audits to equalise pay. As of 2018, employers with more than 250 employees, revised in 2021 to employers with more than 25 employees, are required to certify that they have and use a gender-neutral job evaluation model. Among the Nordic countries, the gender pay gap has narrowed fastest in Iceland since 2010.

In Finland, job evaluations in some collective agreements are based on commercial models (Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö, 2022). Swedish employers use a number of different commercial models for job evaluations. The expert network Lönelotsarna provides a payroll analysis tool, Analys Lönelots, for use by employers, which was previously administered by the Equality Ombudsman. Lönelotsarna has used the tool to evaluate 425 occupations in the Swedish labour market to demonstrate the structural pay differences resulting from gender segregation (Harriman et al., 2023).

Using job evaluation to compare occupations across an entire labour market also requires interpretation. The requirements of different occupations can be viewed and weighted differently in the assessment of equivalence. Even if there is a structure that guides and limits the possibilities of interpretation, the evaluation can still not be completely objective.

#### The Nordic pay formation model and the gender pay gap

Pay formation is similar across the Nordic countries, with some variations. Labour market parties (employer organisations and trade unions) negotiate and establish collective agreements which, to varying degrees in the different countries, define (lower) limits for the pay levels that can be set by individual employers. The extent to which the state is involved in the negotiation processes varies, as does the level of detail in the agreements (see also Stüber, 2024, for an overview of pay formation models in the Nordic countries).

It is only in the last decade that Nordic researchers have looked more closely at the impact of the Nordic pay formation model on gender pay gaps. They have found that the model has hindered the closing of gender pay gaps in a variety of ways, despite trade unions at times strongly defending gender equality. This has been described as 'egalitarian inequality' (Wagner & Teigen, 2022) and 'institutional undervaluation' (Koskinen Sandberg, 2017).

The Nordic model makes it difficult to conduct pay comparisons and ensure parity of pay between different occupations under the same employer, as these occupations may belong to different collective agreements with different employment conditions. The same applies at the national level – occupations with equivalent requirements exist in both the private and public sectors, for example, and are thus negotiated by different actors with different priorities.

In Finland, Norway and Sweden, there is a more or less formalised agreement that pay increases in the export industry determine the general level of pay increases. The public sector, which is dominated by women, should therefore not experience higher pay increases than the export industry, which is dominated by men. The fact that this relationship cements the structural pay gap is pointed out, for example, by NOU 2008:6 and Oslo Economics (2022). Thus, there are differences not only between occupations dominated by men and those dominated by women but also within the same occupations for employees operating in different sectors.



## 4. Reports on gender and pay from the Nordic Countries

In all Nordic countries, national pay statistics have been used to study the gender pay gap, and government agencies have published reports on this. This is true particularly in Finland, Sweden and Iceland. In Finland, the Equal Pay Programme has produced several reports based on national statistics. In Sweden, the National Mediation Office, which is responsible for national pay statistics, publishes at least one report annually and sometimes special reports on the gender pay gap. In Iceland, there is a continuous effort to address the gender pay gap, with its related publications. However, only a few reports discuss work of equal value, while none address pay differences in work of equal value at the occupational level. Most apply statistics on similar work. The Norwegian report by Hoen et al. (2024) and the Icelandic working group's final report on Job Evaluation (2024) are the only two reports that explore the concept of work of equal value in more detail, in particular the problem of defining in which jobs the work performed can be considered of equal value.

However, other reports also point out, at a general level, that an upgrading of undervalued work dominated by women is necessary if the pay gap is to be closed. The gender segregation of the labour market features in the background of almost every report and is referred to more explicitly in some, such as the main report by the Danish *Lønstrukturkommitéen* (Pay Structure Committee; 2023), in which gender segregation between both occupations and sectors is highlighted. Differences between sectors are addressed in several reports, and Laine (2024) in particular also provides an analysis of different sectors. Otherwise, the analyses are based more on individual characteristics, such as age or education – however, there are no analyses of the importance of part-time work.

Although the reports do not directly address pay gaps between occupations in which work of equal value is performed, they can be a step towards understanding the current state of the gender pay gap between jobs.

#### Finland

In Finland, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health is currently undertaking its third four-year project on equal pay. The projects have produced a number of reports, and the two most recent, like several previously, rely on national statistics. Laine and Kauhanen's (2023) report *Naisten ja miesten työuraerot Suomen teollisuuden kuukausipalkkaisella henkilöstöllä 2002–2020* (Differences in monthly pay between women's and men's careers in Finnish industry 2002–2020) addresses the issue of equal pay for work of equal value by comparing different occupations and men's and women's starting positions within them, as well as their further career development. While the report does not explicitly address whether women and men with different pay levels in different trades and at different hierarchical levels perform work of equal value, it does raise questions about whether work is equal and about remuneration both within and between different occupations in Finnish industry.

In 2023, the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health also published the report *Samapalkkaisuusohjelman ja hallituksen samapalkkaisuustoimenpiteiden kokonaisarviointi 2020–2023* (Overall assessment of the equal pay programme and government measures for equal pay 2020–2023; Kostiainen, 2023). It focuses on equal pay for similar work and work of equal value in general, not in specific occupations, and uses statistics mainly to show the development of the pay gap before and after the introduction of the Equal Pay Programme. Pay statistics from Statistics Finland are used as the basis for measuring the progress of the Equal Pay Programme through an agreement between the government and employer and employee organisations. However, the report notes that because the statistics do not include part-time workers or sole traders, they cover only 83% of paid workers and that the Incomes Register, which includes part-time pay but does not have an occupational breakdown, shows a greater pay gap than the pay statistics.

In the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health's report 2024:26 *Työelämän muutokset, sukupuolten työmarkkina-asema ja samapalkkaisuus* (Changes in working life, gender equality in the labour market and equal pay), Pekka Laine provides a thorough review of the development of the gender pay gap in the municipal, state and private sectors, individually. Using data from Statistics Finland, he calculates the degree to which the decrease or increase in the gender pay gap is due to changes in the composition of the labour force in different occupations in each sector or the gender composition of occupations compared to the convergence of women's and men's pay. The calculations also take into account part-time work. While work of equal value is not discussed, as the calculations are made based on the 20 most common occupations for women and men in each sector, they provide valuable insight, in as far as these occupations can be said to constitute work of equal value.

In the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health's report 2023:21 *Tasa-arvon edistäminen työpaikoilla. Keinoja sukupuolen mukaisen segregaation purkamiseen* (Promoting gender equality in the workplace – methods to phase out gender segregation), Teräsaho et al. identify pay differences as a factor that maintains gender segregation in the workplace, for example by not encouraging men to enter low-paid occupations dominated by women. Teräsaho et al. identify contractual pay policies as the cause, arguing that they make it more difficult for individual professions to get higher pay increases than others, and call for more awareness of gender effects among social partners. Greater recognition of occupations dominated by women is necessary to address the pay gap, and the public sector should serve as a role model in this respect. Teräsaho et al. refer to statistics that explain pay differences in individual sectors based on men and women undertaking different tasks, but still regard the unexplained pay difference for similar work as important to address.

#### Norway

In the Norwegian public report NOU 2024:6, representatives for employers and employees, the government (ministries) and Statistics Norway present the basis for calculating pay settlements to the Ministry of Labour and Social Inclusion. The report includes sections on pay development for women and men with regard to different sectors defined in collective agreements and characteristics such as education, age, occupation, etc. The report notes that differences in women's and men's labour force participation, industry/sector affiliation, education, work experience and skills are important factors behind the pay gap, as is the gender distribution in the labour market and the fact that women and men hold different positions in the workplace. The report notes that the gender pay gap may reflect various forms of pay discrimination. It also refers to a report by Statistics Norway titled Lønnsgapet i Norge. Lønnsforskjellen mellom menn og kvinner –hvor stor er den? (The Pay Gap in Norway. The pay gap between men and women – how big is it?; Grini & Fløtre, 2023), which shows how the pay gap is reduced if different statistical methods are applied or certain statistics are omitted. The Norwegian report does not explicitly discuss equal pay for work of equal value.

The report that most clearly analyses the pay gap relative to work of equal value, commissioned by the Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir), is Hoens et al. (2024) *Ulik lønn for likt arbeid? Lønnsforskjeller mellom kvinner og menn, 2015–2022* (Unequal pay for equal work? Pay gaps between women and men, 2015–2022). The first section addresses the reasons for the pay gap between women and men doing similar work (same occupation) with statistical calculations for a number of factors, such as age, responsibility for children, sectoral affiliation, etc. The second part of the report contains reasoning and calculations on how jobs in which work of equal value is performed could be

compared and the indicators that could be relevant when determining whether jobs are equal. Hoen et al. note that their task is not to determine equal value and also point out that equal value is not about the status of the job but the requirements of the job in different areas. Using data from Statistics Norway, a number of general comparisons are made with men's pay between female-dominated and male-dominated occupations, taking various relevant aspects, such as skill or effort, into account.

The report *Lønns- og karriereutvikling blant høyt utdannede i Norge, 2015–2022* (Pay and career development among highly educated people in Norway, 2015–2022; Salvanes, 2023) compares the pay of highly educated people (with a master's degree or higher) in four categories: employees in scientific occupations in the private sector and those in the public sector and other highly educated employees in the private sector and in the public sector. Comparisons are made over time within, but not between, the sectors. The comparisons are made between men and women and between individuals with foreign backgrounds and those with Norwegian backgrounds. However, these groups are kept separate – the intersectional effects on pay in groups consisting of women with foreign backgrounds, for example, are not analysed. Salvanes finds that men receive the highest pay in all categories, especially in the private sector, where women are in the minority. Those in scientific occupations in the public sector were found to have the lowest pay. While the report does not compare jobs of equal value, it does give some indications of how equal value may be salaried differently between sectors.

#### Sweden

In Sweden, the National Mediation Office, which is responsible for statistics on pay structures, publishes an annual report on the gender pay gap. The issue is approached from several perspectives, including through the use of both unweighted and weighted pay gaps and the application of various metrics such as percentiles, while differences between sectors are also considered. In addition, aspects such as part-time work, teleworking and commuting are discussed. Occupational segregation is also addressed, but the National Mediation Office itself states that 'on the basis of the official pay structure statistics, it is not possible to determine whether one occupation or job is of equal value compared to another occupation or job' (Ekberg et al., 2023a, p. 12). As in pay structure statistics, the private sector, but not the public sector, is divided into salaried and waged workers, meaning that direct comparison between sectors is not always possible. The report does, however, offer some further thoughts on the possible underlying reasons for the difference in men's and women's pay.

In the National Mediation Office's report *Inkomstskillnader mellan kvinnor och män* (Income differences between women and men; Ekberg et al., 2023b), the pay gap is

treated as part of the gender income gap. No specific information on occupations is provided, but part-time work in different sectors is discussed. The report notes that in terms of income from work, the gap between women and men is 22%, i.e. women earn 78% of what men earn, which is explained by women both receiving lower pay and working fewer hours. Interestingly, in high-paid occupations, part-time work is less common, both in occupations dominated by men and those dominated by women.

The report also draws attention to the cost of education, i.e. the fact that women are much more likely to be paying back student loans for a significant part of their lives. Thus, it should be considered that when comparing two occupations of equal value over the course of a life, one requiring a university education and the other not, the economic outcomes of the occupations are not influenced solely by pay levels.

The Budget Bill 23/24 (Prop 23/24: 1) contained, as usual, an annex on 'Economic equality'. It can be seen as being aligned with the report by the National Mediation Office in that it considers differences in income instead of pay. With regard to pay, it finds that the gap in labour incomes narrowed between 2011 and 2021, that women, especially foreign-born, still have lower employment rates than men, that women still work part time at twice the rate of men and that women receive lower levels of pay, despite narrowing occupational and sectoral gaps. It notes that the proportion of women has increased in more occupations dominated by men (69 out of 99 occupations) than the proportion of men in occupations dominated by women (40 out of 71 occupations) and that this may be a contributing factor to the narrowing of the pay gap. The fact that occupations dominated by men are highly paid is taken for granted, i.e. there is no reflection on equal pay for work of equal value.

In its report *Jämställdhetsarbetet tappar styrfart* (Gender equality work loses momentum; Swedish Gender Equality Agency, 2024), the Swedish Gender Equality Agency comments on the Budget Bill and states that the report has a limited view of how to achieve economic equality. According to the Swedish Gender Equality Agency, it is also necessary to reduce the pay gap between welfare occupations dominated by women and other occupations of equal value. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency's report also notes that the narrowing of the pay gap has stalled since 2019. The Agency points to the UN's Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against women, which calls for Sweden to ensure equal pay for work of equal value.

In the report *Likvärdiga yrken – likvärdiga kollektivavtal?* (Equivalent occupations – equivalent collective agreements?; Swedish Gender Equality Agency, 2023), the Swedish Gender Equality Agency compares several aspects of collective agreements for six occupations dominated by women and six dominated by men. The pay-related factors compared are minimum pay, overtime pay and compensation for inconvenient working hours. Minimum pay, where available, appears to be slightly higher for occupations dominated by men. Overtime pay is calculated in very different ways across various agreements, so the report does not consider it possible to compare them. Compensation for inconvenient working hours is lowest in care occupations dominated by women, and slightly lower in the private sector than in the municipal sector, but the report finds that the differences are not substantial. However, occupations dominated by men covered by the IF Metall collective agreement and the electricians' collective agreement provide significantly higher compensation for inconvenient working hours among qualified positions than both welfare occupations and other occupations dominated by men.

#### Denmark

In Denmark, *Lønstrukturkommitéen* (Pay Structure Committee) published its main report in June 2023. While it mainly takes a gender-neutral approach with 'staff groups', it also points to the gender segregation of the labour market, both in occupational and sectoral terms, and greater tendency for part-time work among women and the resulting differences in pay between men and women. It does not make a straightforward comparison of pay between women and men but compares the pay of female-dominated groups with an expected value (LEU pay) calculated on the basis of management responsibilities, education and experience. It also repeatedly notes that people with the same level of education can have very different levels of pay. The report suggests educational choices and possibly responsibilities for a household and children by way of explanation. However, it does not consider whether pay for work of equal value (a concept that does not appear in the report) should be compared.

Verner and Mikkelsen (2023) compare pay mainly among private sector salaried workers. They mostly use sector-based categorisations (wholesale, retail, motor vehicle and other trade) divided by five types of work: management, work requiring high educational qualifications, work requiring medium educational qualifications, office and customer service, and sales and service. The results are consistent with other findings, showing that the pay gap is highest among workers who are highly paid. The pay gap is expressed as a percentage, and the number of women and men included in each category is not given. The categories likely hide several cases of work of equal value, but this is not recognised in the report.

#### Iceland

Between 2021 and 2023, an Icelandic working group, established by the Prime Minister, was tasked with proposing a pilot model for re-evaluating undervalued work dominated by women in the state sector to allow for fair comparisons between jobs of equal value. The group's final report *Job Evaluation. Report of the Task Force on Pay Equity and Equality in the Labour Market* (2024) provides a thorough review of the difficulties of job evaluation. It is mainly based on ILO recommendations and uses the ILO terms of 'male' and 'female' aspects of jobs. Although the report states that job evaluation is not in itself about pay setting, it does also refer to court cases concerning equal pay for work of equal value in Iceland, Europe and New Zealand.



## 5. Classifying occupations

To compare work and pay at the national level, the concepts of 'work' and 'pay' need to be defined. At the national level, calculations and descriptions of gender pay gaps are often related to the classification of occupations provided by national statistical authorities. While a number of trade unions have their own pay databases, journalists and researchers, for example, often rely on data from the statistical authorities in each country. A statement such as 'male teachers are paid x% more than female teachers' is based on an understanding of teachers' pay and genders. To make such comparisons, work tasks across the population need to be categorised into different occupations. A categorisation of occupations is needed when comparing the pay levels of work dominated by men and work dominated by women.

The starting point for comparisons of equal pay for work of equal value can be derived from the occupational classifications that exist in each country (cf. Harriman et al., 2023). These classifications are linked to the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO), created by the ILO. By classifying work by occupation at the national level in relation to an international standard, international comparisons and reporting are made possible. However, each country can make adjustments to the international occupational classification to better reflect national labour market conditions. This standardised national occupational classification is not in itself designed to provide a basis for identifying equal jobs on the basis of knowledge and skills, responsibility, effort and working conditions. There are several areas of application and thus different requirements and expectations of the occupational classification, and in that regard the classification represents a compromise between the needs of different users (SSYK 2012).

What the methodology for conducting job evaluations at the national level based on the occupational classification should be is far from clear. Nor is it clear which actors could take or be assigned responsibility for carrying out job evaluations of occupations to assess equivalence at the national level. This is an issue that is also beyond the scope of this report (see also Harriman et al., 2023; Stüber, 2024; Hoen et al., 2024). As the occupational classification provides a basis for job evaluation and comparison of jobs in which work of equal value is performed, it is necessary that it reflects occupations present in the labour market as accurately as possible. Understanding the structure of the classification, the information it contains and the problems of using existing occupational classifications for the evaluation of work of equal value is fundamental to analysing pay differences at the national level. A description is therefore provided, although for the purposes of this report we have chosen to base it on an already conducted job evaluation (Harriman et al., 2023).

#### Description of the occupational classification system

The latest version of the ILO's occupational classification is ISCO-08. This in turn has led to revisions in the national occupational classifications of the Nordic countries. The occupational classifications in the Nordic countries are AML2010 (Classification of Occupations, produced by Statistics Finland) in Finland, STYRK-08 (Classification of Occupations, produced by a working group with participants from Statistics Norway and Nav, the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Service) in Norway and SSYK 2012 (Swedish Standard Classification of Occupations, produced by Statistics Sweden and the Swedish Public Employment Service) in Sweden. The equivalents in Denmark are DISCO-08, and in Iceland Ístarf21 (but in the Icelandic statistical database Ístarf95 is used). The description below is mainly based on the Swedish Standard Classification of Occupations SSYK 2012.

The classification system defines ten broad occupational fields for the purposes of categorisation:

- 1. Managers
- 2. Occupations requiring advanced level of higher education
- 3. Occupations requiring higher education qualifications or equivalent
- 4. Administration and customer service clerks
- 5. Service, care, and shop sale workers
- 6. Agricultural, horicultural, forestry, and fishery workers
- 7. Building and manufacturing workers
- 8. Mechanical manufacturing and transport workers, etc.
- 9. Elementary occupations
- 10. Armed forces

Under the SSYK 2012 classification, every occupation is associated with a four-digit code, with each digit corresponding with specific information:

- Major group/One-digit level
- Sub-major group/Two-digit level
- Minor group/Three-digit level
- Unit group/Four-digit level

The occupational groups at the four-digit level define the occupations.

Each level includes a description of job content, with increasing degrees of specialisation. Below are examples from two sub-major groups with varied gender compositions, from Major group 5 Service, care and shop sales workers, which is dominated by women. Major group 5 covers a wide range of jobs: ensuring the safety of travellers and checking tickets; providing guide services; preparing and serving food and drinks; providing hair and beauty treatments; supervising, planning and coordinating cleaning work; supervising, managing and maintaining buildings; arranging funerals; managing and planning the operation and day-to-day running of a shop; demonstrating, selling and hiring out goods; caring for children, disabled people, patients and the elderly, etc. Thus, the major care occupations, for example, will be included in Major group 5, among several other smaller occupational groups.

Sub-major group 51, Service, care and safety work encompasses some of the tasks in Major group 5: ensuring the safety of travellers; checking tickets and providing guide services; preparing and serving food and drink; providing hair and beauty treatments; supervising, planning and coordinating cleaning work; supervising, managing and maintaining buildings; arranging funerals. It includes 15 different occupations, such as bartenders, within minor group of waiters and bartenders.

- 51 Service, care and safety work, gender balanced
- 513 Waiters and bartenders, dominated by women
- 5132 Bartenders, gender balanced

Sub-major group 52, Sales workers, etc. includes another group of tasks within Major group 5: managing and planning the operation and day-to-day activities of a retail store, selling goods in grocery and specialised stores, selling goods and services over the telephone, demonstrating goods to potential customers, renting vehicles, etc. It includes 9 different occupations, such as rental salespersons, which are part of the minor group Shop staff occupation group.

- 52 Sales workers, slightly weighted towards women
- 522 Shop staff, slightly weighted towards women
- 5226 Rental salespersons, dominated by men

Each minor group and occupational group, i.e. occupation, also has a short description similar to those given here for the main groups. In ISCO-08, the descriptions are long and detailed, with bulleted lists of typical tasks that may be included. The Finnish and Norwegian systems are also relatively detailed and provide bulleted lists, while the descriptions in the Swedish SSYK are much shorter and summarised.

As shown in the example above, the gender distribution may be different at the four-digit level to the three- or two-digit levels. Therefore, it is important that the assessment of whether occupations are equal for gender pay gap analyses based on national occupational classifications is conducted at the four-digit level, where possible.

#### National differences in occupational classification

The national classifications differ in how closely they correspond to ISCO-08. There are also differences in how occupations are classified in each Nordic country, as well as the number of levels in the classification. In Finland and Denmark, a fifth digit (five-digit level) is sometimes used. The Finnish classification follows ISCO-08 most closely. The Swedish classification sometimes follows ISCO-08 relatively loosely, diverging and creating new groups. For example, the occupation 'rental salesperson' is included in SSYK but not in ISCO-08 or the classifications of Nordic countries.

By way of example, the figure below shows the differences in classification among a selection of managerial occupations (Major group 1: Managers) in Finland, Sweden and Norway. It is clear that comparisons between these three countries are not easily drawn. When groups are moved or new groups created, the content of included occupations may also change. When not defined as a separate group, 'rental salesperson', to cite the previous example, must be classified within another group, which thus changes its content slightly. Another example is police officers: ISCO-08 has two different groups for police officers, 3355 and 5412. In addition, police chief constables and police commissioners are categorised in two different occupational groups within Major group 1: Managers. While the Finnish occupational classification follows ISCO-08, the Swedish classification has only one occupational group, 3360, as does the Norwegian classification, 3355. When comparing pay with equal occupations dominated by women, i.e. occupations with equal requirements, the outcome differs depending on if the comparison is made between a single occupational group of police officers or two different occupational groups.

#### Extract from the classification of managerial occupations in AML2010, SSYK 2012, STYRK-08

'1219'	Business services and administration managers not elsewhere cla	ssified			
'122'	Sales, marketing and development managers			122 Human resource managers 122 Sales, marketing and development managers	
'1221'	Sales and marketing managers			123 Administration and planning managers	
'1222'	Advertising and public relations managers	Advertising and public relations managers			
'1223'	Research and development managers			125 Sales and marketing managers	
'13'	Production and specialised services managers			13 Production and specialized services man 13 Production and specialised services managers	
'131'	Production managers in agriculture, forestry and fisheries			131 Information and communications techno 131 Production managers in agriculture, forestry and fisheries	;
'1311'	Agricultural and forestry production managers				
'1312'	Aquaculture and fisheries production managers				
'132'	Manufacturing, mining, construction, and distribution managers			132 Supply, logistics and transport managers 132 Manufacturing, mining, construction and distribution man	nagers
'1321'	Manufacturing managers			4 subcodes	
'1322'	Mining managers				
'1323'	Construction managers				
'1324'	Supply, distribution and related managers				
'133'	Information and communications technology service managers			133 Research and development managers 133 Information and communications technology service mana	agers
'1330'	Information and communications technology service managers				
'134'	Professional services managers			134 Architectural and engineering managers 134 Professional services managers	
'1341'	Child care services managers 🔨			2 subcodes	
'1342'	Health services managers			135 Real estate and head of administration manager	
'1343'	Aged care services managers			136 Production managers in construction and mixing	
'1344'	Social welfare managers			137 Production managers in manufacturing	
'1345'	Education managers			138 Forestry and agricultural production managers	
'1346'	Einancial and insurance services branch managers			200 Forest york agreeter of production in higgers	
1340	Professional services managers not elsewhere classified				
1345	Hospitality, retail and other services managers			14 Education managers	
14	Hospitality, retain and other services managers			14 Ducation managers	
'1411'	Hotel managers			141 Primary and secondary schools and addit educations solutions	
'1412'	Pestaurant managers			142 Fluction managers not elsewhere classified	
1412	Petail and wholesale trade managers			15 Health and other services managers	
'1420'	Petail and wholesale trade managers			151 Health are manager	
'143'	Other services managers			152 Managers in social and curative care	
'1431'	Shorts, recreation and cultural centre managers			153 Fidery care managers	
1451	sports, recreation and curtural centre managers			155 Elderly care managers	
	Services				
	managers not				
	elsewhere				
'1439'	classified			154 Managers and leaders within religious bodies	
				159 Other social services managers	
				16 Financial and insurance services branch managers	
				17 Hotel, restaurant, retail and other services managers	
				171 Hotel and conference managers	
				172 Restaurant managers	
				173 Retail and wholesale trade managers	
				174 Sports, leisure and wellness managers	
				179 Other service managers not elsewhere classified	

## Level of detail and gender in the classification of occupations

It is essential to know the gender distribution of occupations to make comparisons of the pay situation between occupations dominated by women, those dominated by men or those that are gender-balanced and can be considered work of equal value. National statistics in the Nordic countries do not always contain easily accessible information on the gender distribution of occupations at the four-digit level. In Finland, for example, the information is provided by sector, which means that the gender balance needs to be calculated from three different tables. Table 1 summarises the gender composition at the three-digit level.

	Finland	Norway	Sweden
Male-dominated occupations	46%	51%	43%
Female-dominated occupations	34%	24%	32%
Gender-balanced 40/60	20%	25%	25%
Total minor groups (three- digit level)	128	121	114

Table 1: Percentage of male-dominated, female-dominated and gender-balanced minor groups in Finland, Norway, Sweden. Source: National statistical authorities.

The information in Table 1 does not indicate the number of people who work in a particular occupation, but since there are roughly equal numbers of men and women in the labour market and jobs dominated by men are divided into a greater number of groups, the implication is that groups dominated by women generally contain more individuals (for example, personal care workers in health services are the largest group in Sweden). Thus, there is a risk that these occupations are specified with a lower degree of detail and specialisation than the occupations predominantly held by men.

Evidence of a tendency to divide occupations dominated by men into more and smaller categories can be found in previous research (Acker, 1989;

Salminen-Karlsson et al., 2015). A report by the Swedish expert group Lönelotsarna on structural pay differences (Harriman et al., 2023) highlights that this is also a problem in SSYK. The report exemplifies this with the male-dominated operator occupations, which at the four-digit level are divided into 24 occupations according to industry or the material handled, while there is a single unit code at the fourdigit level for assistant nurses, in home care and in homes for the elderly, an occupation which is dominated by women, despite differences in conditions for assistant nurses working in homes for the elderly (nursing homes) compared to home care.

Another example of male-dominated occupations being divided into more categories is found in the Danish classification of lorry drivers, occupational group (8332) within major group 8, 'Operator, assembly and transport work'. In the Danish occupational classification DISCO-08, lorry drivers are presented according to different job functions at the six-digit level, providing a high level of detail across six subgroups:

833210 Lorry driver, national transport

833220 Lorry driver, international transport

833230 Lorry driver with sales and representation duties

833240 Lorry driver with renovation duties

833250 Lorry driver with relocation duties

#### 833260 Lorry driver for dangerous goods

In the case of lorry drivers, DISCO-08 differs somewhat from ISCO-08, which classifies all lorry drivers under code 8332. Meanwhile, in the case of the nursing profession, SSYK goes counter to the tendency to categorise male-dominated occupations more finely than female-dominated ones; while ISCO-08 has only two codes for nurses and midwives, professions dominated by women, SSYK has 14 different codes.

### Table 2: Professional classification of nurses in Finland (AML2010), Norway (STYRK-08), Sweden (SSYK 2012).

Finland	Norway	Sweden
32211 Nurses	2221 Nursing professionals	2221 Professional nurses
32212 Public health nurses	2222 Midwifery professionals	2222 Professional midwives
3222 Midwifery associate professionals	2223 Nurses	2223 Anaesthesia nurses
	2224 Social educators	2224 District nurses
		2225 Psychiatric nurses
		2226 Nurses – ambulance
		2227 Nurses – geriatric
		2228 Nurses – intensive care
		2231 Nurses – operation
		2232 Nurses – children
		2233 Nurses – school
		2234 Company nurses
		2235 Nurses – radiology
		2239 Other specialist nurses

Job content can differ significantly between different areas of work (a midwife has different tasks to an company nurse), and degrees of specialisation can also be accompanied by different gender distributions, which can also co-vary with pay. For example, pay varies across different nursing professions in Sweden (see Figure 1), partly but not exclusively, according to the proportion of men within the specialisation.



#### Figure 1: Pay in nursing occupations, Sweden.

This section of the report focussed on the level of detail and gender in the classification of occupations and its implications for pay comparisons between occupations in which work of equal value is performed. The next section further explores the use of different levels of occupational classification and pay.

#### Classification detail and pay

Occupational classifications at the four-digit level (occupational group) and threedigit level (minor group) provide different levels of detail on occupations, but the choice of starting point between the four-digit or three-digit level can also provide different statistical information and reveal certain patterns for those interested in gender distribution within occupations and the pay gap.

An example is presented from the Finnish national statistics for minor group 132 'Manufacturing, mining, construction and distribution managers', examining the proportion of women within the minor group (three-digit level) and the included occupational group (four-digit level), as well as the pay gap for the different groups.

	Percentage of women (%)	Gender pay gap
132 Manufacturing, mining, construction and distribution managers	14%	10%
1323 Construction managers	9%	11%
1321 Manufacturing managers	15%	3%
1324 Supply, distribution and related managers.	19%	20%

Table 3: Percentage of women and the gender pay gap within minor group 132 and its four-digit levels, Finland.

The proportion of women within the different occupational groups (four-digit level) varies from 9% to 19%. The gender pay gap between the occupational groups varies from 3% to 20% – some women working within minor group 132 are thus subject to a gender pay gap several times larger than the group as a whole.

The Swedish statistical database includes the minor group 335, 'Tax and related government associate professionals'. This contains the occupational groups 3351, 'Customs and coastguard officers'; 3352, 'Tax officials'; 3353, 'Government social benefits officials'; 3355, 'Fire and building inspectors.' and 3359, 'Administrative secretaries and related associate professionals'. (3354, 'Safety and quality inspectors', is not included in the statistical database.) This example is not concerned with the pay gap within the occupational groups (as in Table 3) and instead provides a comparison of the average pay of the occupational groups with the average pay across minor group 335 as a whole. This comparison reveals clear, gendered differences.

	Percentage of women	Pay as % of occupational group pay	Average pay
335 Tax and related government associate professionals	61%		35,800
3353 Government social benefits officials	79%	90%	32,100
3359 Administrative secretaries and related associate professionals	72%	101%	36,100
3352 Tax officials	70%	96%	34,400
3351 Customs and coastguard officers	41%	107%	38,300
3355 Fire and building inspectors.	35%	116%	41,600

#### Table 4: Percentage of women and pay in minor group 335, Swedish data.

In two of the three occupations in which women are the majority, the average pay is lower than for the group as a whole, while it is higher in the occupations in which men are in the majority. This is clearly illustrated in the figure below. Thus, it can be seen that pay comparisons conducted at the three-digit level rather the four-digit level obscure significant pay differences (between government social benefits officials and fire and building inspectors these amount to SEK 9,500 per month) and varied requirements between occupations within the group. (According to Harriman et al.'s, 2023, valuation, occupational groups 3351 and 3359 have lower requirements than the other occupations.)



Figure 2: Average pay of occupational groups compared to the average pay of minor group 335, Swedish data.

Comparisons at the four-digit level are thus preferable. However, there is a tradeoff in the case of small labour markets, such as Iceland, where a four-digit code would often cover too few workers to enable meaningful statistical comparisons and may also raise privacy concerns.



## 6. Pay and statistical measures

In the context of equal pay for work of equal value in the national statistical databases, occupational classifications, as discussed in the previous section, are the basis for determining which jobs, or occupations, are comparable and can possibly be considered work of equal value. In the following section, the problem of occupational classification is ignored to instead focus on pay differences themselves. An analysis is presented of current pay levels within and, above all, between occupations based on existing classifications and assumptions of equal occupational value, as presented by Harriman et al. (2023).

In the following section, we clarify slight differences in the meaning of pay in different national databases and present some of the implications of different pay measures for pay comparisons. We also discuss the difference between using mean or median averages in pay comparisons, as both are used and also required by the EU Pay Transparency Directive.

#### Pay measures – how pay is defined in national statistics

Pay refers to remuneration for work done, but there are different ways of defining this remuneration, i.e. different pay measures used in statistics. The remuneration (pay) for work can be linked to different *units of time*: for example, an hour or a month. Pay can also be *fixed or variable*. Fixed pay is the same month by month or hour by hour, while variable pay can change upwards or downwards, for example as a result of piece work and commission pay. Remuneration, and therefore measures of pay, can also vary according to *what it encompasses*, i.e. whether or not increments or bonuses are included. Increments can also be fixed or variable: a fixed increment, for example a shift premium, is the same every month, while a variable increment, such as an overtime increment, depends on the number of overtime hours worked, and can vary every month (Neu Morén & Eriksson Lindwall, 2013). Income types such as bonuses and increments have been found to particularly benefit men (Rubery & Grimshaw, 2015). They are often not included in official statistics on pay, so in the case that bonuses apply in one of two comparable occupations their impact on the pay gap is unknown.

The Swedish statistics on pay structure allow for a choice of comparisons based on both basic and monthly pay. In addition to basic pay, monthly pay includes income such as fixed and variable increments. The National Mediation Office uses monthly pay in its analyses of the gender pay gap. All pay in the Swedish statistics is converted to the full-time equivalent to facilitate comparisons for monthly units, i.e. pay for part-time employees is converted to full-time equivalence to enable calculation of the pay gap. Statistics Finland does the opposite: when comparing full-time and part-time pay, full-time pay is converted to hourly pay. However, the converted levels of pay are not readily available in Statistics Finland's database, and individuals working part time are not included in statistics based on monthly pay – which makes these statistics somewhat misleading for occupations with many part-time workers.

Monthly pay is the main concept used in pay statistics provided by Statistics Norway (SSB). Monthly pay in the Norwegian statistics include contractual monthly pay (i.e. fixed pay), irregular increments linked to specific tasks or working hours, and bonuses (monetary benefits that are usually not linked to specific tasks, e.g. profit sharing). Overtime pay is not included in monthly pay statistics.

The Finnish monthly pay measure includes more separate components than the Swedish and Norwegian statistics; see Table 5. There are thus variations between how the three Nordic statistics authorities define monthly pay.

#### Table 5: Data included in the monthly pay measure in national statistics in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

Finland	Norge	Sverige
Basic pay	Contracted monthly pay/basic pay	Basic pay
Increments paid on the basis of task, professional skills, seniority, etc.	Bonuses	Fixed increments
Increments paid on the basis of workplace location and environmental increments	Variable increments	Variable increments
Working time increments		
Pay for civil servants on the basis of results and performance, pay for employees on the basis of performance		
Taxable value of fringe benefits		
Pay for additional and overtime work		

As an example from the statistics available through Statistics Norway, a user who wants to know more about monthly pay by occupation (Table 11418) can access information on pay such as: monthly pay, agreed monthly pay, variable increments, bonuses and overtime pay, as well as information on age, and contracted working hours per week. These variables reported in the Norwegian statistics with respect to monthly pay are not available in the same way, or cannot be separated from or combined with monthly pay, in the Swedish or Finnish statistics.

Table 6 shows the average pay for the female-dominated occupational group Hotel receptionists (STYRK code 4224) and the male-dominated occupational group Heavy truck and lorry drivers (STYRK code 8332).

#### Table 6: Average pay for hotel receptionists and heavy truck and lorry drivers in Norway in 2022, based on monthly pay, contracted monthly pay, irregular increments and overtime pay. Amounts in NOK.

		Monthly pay	Agreed monthy pay	Irregular increments	Bonuses	Overtime pay
Hotel receptionists	Genders combined	34,280	32,850	1,310	120	200
	Women	34,120	32,910	1,090	120	170
	Men	34,590	32,730	1,750	120	240
Heavy truck and lorry drivers	Genders combined	41,880	40,090	1,340	450	2,670
	Women	39,560	38,140	1,100	320	2,010
	Men	41,960	40,150	1,350	460	2,690

When comparing the monthly pay of the occupational groups, it can be seen that hotel receptionists are paid about 82% that of heavy truck and lorry drivers. The pay gap between these two occupational groups is thus 18%, corresponding to an average pay difference of NOK 7,600 per month. The pay gap for agreed monthly pay is equally large, 18%, and thus seems to be the 'decisive' factor in the size of the pay gap for these occupational groups. Table 6 also shows that women's pay is lower than men's in both occupational groups.

When overtime pay is taken into account (which is not included as part of monthly pay in Norway), the pay gap widens between the occupational groups in Table 6. When monthly pay and overtime pay are combined, the pay gap is 23% between the occupational groups. Overtime pay serves as compensation for additional hours worked and is not part of contracted monthly pay, thus leading to different levels of pay income for employees in each occupational group. In this case, the corresponding average difference in pay is NOK 10,070.

Whether the normal working hours for hotel receptionists and heavy truck and lorry drivers are the same is unknown. Any differences in normal working hours can increase or decrease a pay gap: in the case of equal pay but different normal working hours, there is an actual pay difference because the compensation per hour worked is different. In this case, the basis for calculating overtime is also different, and since overtime is compensated with above-regular pay, the overtime effect is greater than if the basis for the calculation is the same.

## Using mean and median averages to calculate the pay gap

The concept of the gender pay gap is often used to describe the differences in pay between women and men on an average basis, i.e. mean values. Mean values are calculated by dividing the sum of all values by the number of values: the mean pay is thus the sum of all pay divided by the number of people in the group. The median pay is the middle pay level among a group of pay levels sorted in ascending order, from lowest to highest. The National Mediation Office, which is responsible for statistics on the pay structure in Sweden, states that 'the median value can be useful if a distribution is skewed, with many people earning significantly more or less than the rest of the group' (<u>www.mi.se</u>). A report on the pay gap in Norway (Grini & Fløtre, 2023) states that the pay gap is reduced if median rather than mean pay is used as a measure. One aspect addressed by the report is that there are more women in the lowest paid group, as well as noticeably more men in the highest paid group. The Nordic Council of Ministers' report Increasing Income *Inequality in the Nordics* (Aaberge et al., 2018) uses median values throughout but also points out that the use of related values, such as percentiles (differences in pay between those who, for example, are in the 25% pay percentile - rather than 50%, as in the median – from the lowest or highest earners) may be needed to detect differences that are not picked up through the use of median values alone.

The choice of whether to use mean or median values is a judgement call. If the purpose of analysis is to determine the difference in pay for 'most' people across a subset of occupations, ignoring the fact that a number of individuals (usually men) will have significantly higher pay within this group, the median is the more suitable metric. If, on the other hand, the comparison of all pay within an occupation is most relevant, the mean pay is most applicable. For the purposes of the calculations in

this report, the latter position is taken and the mean average is used. Another reason is that the mean is the measure most often used in other contexts. However, the authors believe that both mean and median values can, or even should, be used when analysing pay gaps for work of equal value.

It is also not the case that pay gaps calculated on the basis of the median are always smaller than pay gaps calculated on the basis of the mean; the pay dispersion within occupations also plays a role. Here, an example is presented based on data from Swedish pay statistics. Figure 3 shows two pairwise comparisons of the pay situation across occupations.



## Figure 3: Comparison of the percentage difference in mean and median pay for two male-dominated and female-dominated occupations. Pay in the female-dominated occupation is shown as % of pay in the male-dominated occupation.

The first pair compares mean and median pay in the male-dominated occupation of financial analysts and investment advisors, etc. (reference value 100%) with mean and median pay in the female-dominated occupation of public relations professionals. The pay gap is significantly larger when the mean is used. This result thus follows the 'expected' pattern of smaller pay gaps when using the median for comparison. This happens in the case of a large pay dispersion, especially in the higher paid occupation – which is often the case.
The second pair compares mean and median pay in the male-dominated occupation of software and system developers (reference value 100%) with mean and median pay in the female-dominated occupation of bank clerks. In this case, the pay gap between the occupations is larger when based on median rather than mean pay. This is because the difference between mean and median pay is small for software and system developers, while the median pay for bank clerks is significantly lower than the mean.



## 7. National statistics on pay and gender in different occupations – and their shortcomings

To understand the gender pay gap at an overall, national level, genderdisaggregated statistics are required that show how different factors relate to pay. It is not only single factors that are of interest but correlations between several different factors. These include, for example, occupational classifications in different levels of detail, gender distribution within occupations, labour market sector, full and part-time pay, age structure, migrant background and education.

The national statistical authorities of all the Nordic countries provide a statistical database for the general public, which enables users to create their own tables by combining different data. In the case of pay and salaries, for example, this might include choosing which occupations, pay measures, statistical measures, genders and years a table should cover. However, the choices are not unlimited, and different statistical authorities have prepared different bases from which to compile tables. The choices available at any given time are of course crucial with regard to the comparability of different occupations. In the following section, we provide our background thoughts for the analysis of the possibilities offered by the national databases.

The level of detail of the occupational classifications (from a general overview at the one-digit level to a more detailed breakdown four-digit level) associated with statistical data on pay can largely determine the possibility of analysing the pay situation of occupations of equal value. In the section Classification occupations, it is argued that the four-digit unit code, which offers the most detail, is the most relevant in the comparison of jobs of equal value, which is why there is particular focus on it in the review of the national statistical databases. The gender distribution in an occupation is key for identifying gender pay gaps between occupations in which work of equal value is performed where the majority of those working in the occupations are women and men respectively. Comparisons between sectors are relevant, as pay levels may differ between sectors even if those working within a given occupation perform similar work.

In official reports on gender pay gaps, part-time pay is usually converted into fulltime pay to allow for comparisons and calculate pay gaps. This practice obscures the role that part-time work plays in the pay gap, with part-time work being significantly more common among women than men. Part-time workers do not earn less simply because they work fewer hours; analysis of hourly pay reveals that part-time workers are also paid less per hour worked (Rubery & Grimshaw, 2015). Working part time can also affect pay in other ways: in addition to affecting hourly pay directly, it can affect opportunities for skills development, which in turn affects pay. The concept of part-time work is also not fixed: working almost full time can be seen as having a different impact on pay than working only a few hours a week.

Age also affects pay development, and occupations in which workers of one sex are generally younger than those of the other sex can be assumed to have a different pay structure than those in which the ages are more gender-mixed. In general, the gender pay gap increases with age; while it is smaller or non-existent among younger workers, men's pay often increases more quickly, widening the gap among those of upper-middle age (Måwe, 2019). However, Wagner et al. (2020) find that age is correlated with education and increases the pay gap, particularly in occupations with low educational requirements.

There are relatively few studies on how migrant background affects pay in the Nordic countries (Måwe, 2019). No research has been conducted on how migrant background affects the pay gap across different occupations – for example, if one occupation has significantly more migrants than another. Such a study would also be difficult to conduct based on publicly available statistics, since pay statistics do not include country of birth.

Formal education is also an important factor, and the easiest to define, when valuing different occupations and offers an indication of how different occupations do, and should reasonably, compare, in terms of pay. The gender pay gap is often greater among high-paid workers than low-paid workers, even in percentage terms (Ekberg et al., 2023a; Måwe, 2019; Wagner & Teigen 2022). This is consistent with the findings of previous research: the pay gap is larger among the highly educated than the less-well educated (Wagner et al., 2020).

Given their importance in relation to the gender pay gap, the statistical variables that have been discussed here will be highlighted throughout this report. In the following section, we review some of the features of the statistical databases that are freely available in the different Nordic countries that make it difficult to compare men's and women's pay and gender pay gaps across occupations.

## Finland

In the Finnish statistical database, the number of women and men employed (i.e. the basis for calculating gender distribution) in different occupations is provided at the four-digit level but in three different tables: for the private, central government and local government<sup>[1]</sup> sectors. This makes it difficult to compare pay across sectors. All tables based on monthly pay generally include mean, median and percentile pay, as well as basic pay (without increments) and monthly pay (with fixed increments). The number of part-time employees, broken down by gender, is available in the pay tables for each sector, which present monthly pay at the four-digit level. However, part-time workers' pay is not included in the mean or median pay data, i.e. this pay data is simply omitted and has not been converted into full-time pay.

Hourly pay is presented in separate tables for full-time and part-time employees, both overall and by sector, but only at the three-digit level for the overall statistics. However, the gender distribution of occupations is not available in the same table and has to be obtained elsewhere.

In addition to the national occupational classification, pay for women and men in the central and local government (but not private) sectors can also be searched by the occupational titles that appear in employment and other contracts, of which there are 674.

Only in the private sector is it possible to combine variables on occupation, age, pay and gender – but only at the two-digit level. Otherwise, there are no tables in which the variables of age and occupation can be combined, i.e. it is not possible to see whether the gender composition differs between age groups within an occupation. Gender is excluded in the table combining educational attainment and age with pay.

It is possible to combine education with gender and pay for each sector individually, but comparisons between sectors are difficult to make. The education codes used vary between sectors: for local and central government a level and field code are used (101 fields and 7 levels), for private sector employees who are paid monthly a uniform system is used that assigns 476 designations for different degrees, while private sector employees who are paid hourly are reported in the same way as employees in central and local government.

An archive is available that includes older tables, the earliest being from 2005, allowing statistical developments to be traced back. These are stored by year, meaning that comparisons of two or more points in time require data to be compiled from several different annual tables.

<sup>1.</sup> As of the 2023 pay statistics, the municipal government sector is referred to as local government.

#### Norway

In the Norwegian statistical database available through Statistics Norway, a single table allows users to see data on occupational pay by sector, gender and working hours for the years 2015–2023. In this example table (11418), highlighted here, it is possible to combine a variety of information to make comparisons of the gender pay situation between occupations, such as information on the gender distribution within occupations and various statistical measures for comparisons.

In the Norwegian statistics, the sectors are divided into three: the private sector and publicly owned enterprises, local government and central government. Pay statistics on occupations in the sample table can be disaggregated from the onedigit to the four-digit level as per the Norwegian occupational classification STYRK-08, according to user preference. Part-time pay is converted to be equivalent to monthly full-time pay. In the table, part-time work is defined as less than 100% working time, and full-time as working 100% or more. In the table on gender and pay at the four-digit level, it is possible to select from the last ten reporting years.

The example table does not provide the age distribution (age structure) of occupations, but data on, for example, mean or median age for occupations at the four-digit level are available. Data on age distribution in the categories, under 40, 40–54, and 55 and over, for occupations at the four-digit level is available in another table. For those interested in pay distribution by level of education, statistics are available but not by gender or occupational classification.

Overall, in the Norwegian statistics, users can experiment with combining various statistical variables in the same table to compare women's and men's pay in occupations of equal value at the four-digit level, but multiple tables need to be combined to compare women's and men's pay in occupations in which work of equal value is performed in relation to age categories or education level.

Statistics Norway reports statistics and summaries relating to gender equality under the sub-area Population. The statistical database contains two tables on indicators for gender equality in municipalities in Norway. These tables do not include pay as an indicator of gender equality (but do include average gross income). These tables therefore do not provide data that can help to measure pay differentials between women and men in work of equal value.

#### Sweden

The Swedish statistical database is based on five sectors: the central government, municipalities, regions, private sector salaried workers and private sector waged workers. One table combines four-digit occupations, the number of men and women employed and pay, as well as women's pay as a percentage of men's pay and regional pay, both within the labour market as a whole and by sector (either all five sectors or grouped into public and private sectors). Another table presents occupations at the four-digit level, the number of men and women employed, age in 10-year intervals and pay, and women's pay as a percentage of men's pay, both within the labour market as a whole and by sector. In a third table, the age variable is replaced by level of education, divided into seven levels. There is also a table that presents, in addition to the pure pay gap, the standard weighted gap (taking into account age, education, hours worked and sector) for each occupation individually.

The database includes the most recent table or tables compiled from previous years (from 2005 or 2014), allowing the user to see data from a specific year or all available data in a single table, for which the year can be selected. This means that historical developments are easy to trace.

Pay can only be linked to the variables of gender and part-time or full-time work for private sector salaried workers and only at the one-digit level; the number of hours worked is not specified for part-time workers.

There are often many empty cells in the Swedish tables, even when the data is apparently available in the database. For example, the number of employees is missing for many occupations in several pay tables (even when monthly pay is provided), despite this data being available in another table, at least for the year 2022. Thus, obtaining the gender distribution and pay for an occupation requires two tables.

The homepage for Statistics Sweden includes a link to 'Pay statistics', via which users can search for an occupational title and be directed to pay statistics with information on gender, sector, age and education. This entry point is useful for comparing pay for equal work, but not for comparing work of equal value.

## Denmark

Statistics Denmark (<u>dst.dk</u>) provides national statistics across nine different areas, with statistics on pay available under Labour and Income. On its website it provides 20 tables under the sub-heading Pay. For example, in one table (LONS20) users can obtain pay statistics by job function (at the one- to four-digit level based on the DISC-08 occupational classification), sector (overall, for the public sector overall or broken down by, for example, state or local government, enterprises and organisations/private sector), type of pay (hourly pay, fixed pay, total), employee

group (total or divided into different categories), pay components (25 different variants based on pay increments or statistical measures), gender for full-time equivalent (total, women, men) and year (2013–2022). Three of the tables can be found under the heading *Ligestillingsindikator, løngab* (Gender equality indicator, pay gap) and allow the user to obtain data on annual national pay gaps from 2004 to 2022, pay gaps by occupational classification (1–4 digits according to DISC-08) and age in the years 2010–2022, and pay gaps by full- or part-time work and age in the years 2009–2022.

What makes it difficult to compare pay for work of equal value in the Danish context is the lack of data on gender distribution (number of women and men) in different occupations. This information is needed to know which occupations are male and female dominated so that pay gaps between these occupations can be analysed, rather than within the same occupation.

Gender equality is presented as a separate section on the Danish Statistical Authority's website. Here it is easy to compare the size of the pay gap and its development between different groups, but data on pay itself is missing.

#### Iceland

The link to the database can be found on the Statistics Iceland website, where gender-disaggregated pay statistics can be found under Society: Wages and income.

A large part of the labour market is not included in the Icelandic pay tables: the tables are based on about 100,000 employees, while the number of employees in Iceland in 2022 was about 200,000 (<u>Statice.is</u>). For example, the tables only include employers with more than 10 employees. The statistics are also somewhat skewed, as the tables from the database show that there are more women employed than men, while the proportion of women in the total labour force was slightly below 50%.

All the tables, except the one that presents occupation, gender and pay, identify occupations at the one-digit level only, making it difficult to identify occupations in which work of equal value is performed. At the one-digit level, genderdisaggregated tables on pay by sector, pay by industry, pay distribution by sector, pay distribution by industry and the gender pay gap are available.

According to Statistics Iceland, there is an Icelandic occupational classification, Ístarf21, that is based on ISCO-08. However, the pay tables in the statistical database still use the Ístarf95 classification. Ístarf21 breaks down occupations in much finer detail, but so far the advantages are not capitalised on. Ístarf95 includes 9 main groups based on ISCO-95, with 20 groups at the two-digit level and 52 groups at the three-digit level. However, several of the groups at the three-digit level include no data in the tables from the statistical database. This is also the case for the 156 four-digit codes. Some of these indicate the type of work and not the area of work as sub-codes within the three-digit code (general employees – skilled craft workers – skilled craft foremen), which should make it easier to assess whether occupations between two codes are comparable. Statistics Iceland also adds a fifth digit to some four-digit codes for the same purpose. In addition, Statistics Iceland has created some particular codes by, for example, combining codes that cover workers in the fishing industry (combining occupational with industry classifications) or combining supervisors from several different four-digit labour areas. In the latter case, several comparable occupational classifications have been combined, which makes the pay gap within the category (20%) interesting. Thus, the classification used includes a number of elements that facilitate pay comparisons between jobs in which work of equal value is performed.

Due to the small labour market in Iceland, all tables have several empty cells, i.e. some combinations of two or more variables (e.g. occupation, pay and part-time work) include no individuals, or so few that the table does not give the result.

The main table, which includes variables for gender (number of men and women) and different types of pay (basic pay, regular pay including fixed increments, all pay including bonuses) in mean, median and quartile terms for different occupations at the four-digit level, covers only full-time employees. No sectoral breakdown is provided.

The main table, which thus covers only about half of employees, includes more women than men and presents a different pattern than in the other countries: here the majority of occupations (at the three-digit level) are not male dominated, but gender equal (42%), and more occupations appear to be female dominated than male dominated (30% versus 27%). Moreover, in several of the occupations, especially in area 7, usually male-dominated craft occupations, there are so few women that the gender breakdown is not reported for men or women, and male dominance therefore cannot be easily verified in this particular material. However, actual pay between occupations can be compared. While it is not possible to report pay for either gender if the number of individuals is small, for understandable reasons, it should be possible to obtain the actual gender distribution.

In the sectoral table, occupations are only given in 11 categories. It also includes part-time workers and distinguishes between full-time and part-time workers – but the occupational classification is too coarse for the table to be used to compare men's and women's pay for work of equal value.

In another table, the rough occupational classification can be combined with industry. This can be used to identify differences in pay within the same occupational area depending on the industry, for example whether there are differences in pay within the group of clerks (group 4, clerical support workers) because their specific occupation is in a male- or female-dominated industry.

All tables cover the years 2014–2023, so comparisons over time are easy to make.

In the Gender Pay Gap section, there are a number of variables that show the development of pay and the pay gap: different sectors, full-time and part-time work, age groups, fields of activity and occupational classification across nine different occupational areas. However, the variables in the table cannot be combined and, as the occupational classification is very coarse, it is not really possible to compare occupations in which work of equal value is performed.

#### Summary

The table below summarises the main differences between the national databases. The information that can be obtained at the four-digit level can generally also be obtained at the more general levels, therefore additional notes are only provided at the three-, two- and one-digit levels if additional information is provided. The table is also otherwise highly general and serves mainly to illustrate how different data on pay and gender can be specified and presented with regard to occupation.

To summarise, there is varied scope for extracting variables that can be considered relevant in the comparison of the pay situations of occupations in which work of equal value is performed, and in most cases some information cannot be obtained. At present, the Norwegian database offers the greatest scope.

The different databases treat part-time work in different ways – the Finnish statistics omit part-time work entirely in some tables and in Denmark part-time work is converted into full-time equivalent; only the Norwegian statistics provide information on full- and part-time work as well as contracted weekly hours at the four-digit level. Age data in relation to gender and pay at this level is available in Norway, Sweden and Denmark, however in Denmark it is only provided in terms of the gender pay gap within the occupation, which is not useful when comparing different occupations. In Norway, the average age for different occupations is available in Sweden, as rough categorisation. There is no indicator for migrant background as a selection option in any of the tables.

Much of what is missing from the publicly available databases can be customised by the Agency, subject to costs for compiling additional tables, meaning that the information exists, even if it is not publicly available.

#### Table 7: Comparison of data in national statistical databases on pay and gender in relation to occupation.

	Finland	Norway	Sweden	Denmark	Iceland
4-digit level	Number of women/men and pay broken down into three sectoral tables	Pay, sector, gender, full- time/part-time, contracted weekly pay, age, number of women/men, number of full- time equivalent women/men	Pay, sector, region, number of women/men, age, education in 7 levels, women's pay as a % of that of men, standard weighted gender pay gap 4 tables	Sector, number of full-time equivalent women/men, hourly pay/fixed pay, managers/non-managers. Gender pay gap by occupation and age	Pay, number of women/men
Pay measure	Basic pay, monthly pay, pay for regular working hours; hourly pay in separate tables	Monthly pay, irregular increments, bonus, overtime pay	Basic pay, monthly pay	Monthly pay, hourly pay with several optional increments	Monthly pay, monthly pay with overtime payments, total pay including bonuses and a number of other increments
Statistical measure	Mean pay, median, percentiles	Mean pay, median, quartiles	Mean pay	Mean pay; for hourly pay median, quartiles	Mean pay, median
3-digit level	Hourly pay of full-time and part-time employees, no figures for women/men		Pay, sector, region, number of women/men, age, education in 7 levels, women's pay as a % of that of men, standard weighted gender pay gap, median pay, percentiles. 4 tables		
2-digit level	Private sector: gender, age, pay in one table				
1-digit level			Private sector salaried workers, gender, pay, part- time		Sector, industries, part-time, gender pay gap, number of women/men
Over time	Most recent year in one table, previous years in annual archive tables	Previous 10 years compiled in one table	Previous 10 years compiled in one table or most recent year in a table, 10 previous years in one table	Most recent 10 years in a table	Previous 10 years compiled in one table



# 8. Examples based on information in national statistical databases

With regard to the principle of equal pay, it is important to compare maledominated and female-dominated occupations. While the gender pay gap for similar work reflects men's and women's pay within the same occupations, the focus here is comparing the general level of pay between occupations dominated by different genders (cf. Swedish Gender Equality Agency, 2022, Chapter 7).

It has proved difficult to establish the value of work between two different occupations. Given that this is a subjective judgement, even when structured job evaluation systems are used, there is always room for debate (cf. Hoen et al., 2024), however, this is beyond the scope of the current report. Here we assume sufficient consensus on the equivalence of job requirements between two different occupations to constitute a meaningful comparison. In Sweden, the expert network Lönelotsarna has done extensive work to evaluate and classify occupations in the Swedish labour market into categories based on work of equal value (Harriman et al., 2023). In the following section, occupations that they have assessed as being of equal value are compared. We do not claim that the work performed in these occupations is necessarily of equal value but use their assessment to offer an example of the kinds of insights that can be obtained from the national statistics when two occupations of equal value are identified.

## Pair comparisons – comparisons of pay between occupations

Based on Harriman et al. (2023), we chose to compare psychologists and construction engineering professionals, on the one hand, and security guards and child care workers, on the other (Johansson, 2021).

The pay of the male-dominated group of construction engineering professionals differs significantly from that of the female-dominated group of psychologists. The graph below shows the pay of engineering professionals in each country, with a reference value of 100%, in relation to the pay of psychologists. The pay gap between the male-dominated profession of engineering professionals and the female-dominated profession of psychologists is 13–17%.



## Figure 4: Psychologists' pay as a % of that of engineering professionals (reference value 100%) in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

This is a comparison of the average pay between two professions with different gender compositions, and the question of whether male psychologists earn more than female psychologists (similar work) is not of interest. However, it may be interesting to compare male engineering professionals with male psychologists (work of equal value) and female engineering professionals with female psychologists. Again, the engineering professionals' pay serves as a benchmark in these cases. It can be seen that in both Sweden and Finland the pay gap is larger among men than among women with regard to work of equal value. This is a common phenomenon. In other words, men can be said to be even more disadvantaged in terms of pay than women when choosing a female-dominated job.



## Figure 5: Pay of male and female psychologists as a % of the pay of male and female engineering professionals (reference value 100%) in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

For the occupations of security guards and child care workers, a similar pattern is observed to that of the previous comparison. The pay gap between the maledominated occupation of security guards and the female-dominated occupation of child care workers is 10–19%.



## Figure 6: Child care workers' pay as a % of that of security guards (reference value 100%) in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

Comparing the occupations by gender, the same pattern emerges as for engineering professionals and psychologists: the differences are greater for men than for women. For example, in Sweden, a male child care worker earns 78% of what a male security guard earns, while a female child care worker earns 85% of what a female security guard earns.



## Figure 7: Pay of male and female child care workers as a % of the pay of male and female security guards (reference value 100%) in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

Over time, the pay gap between psychologists and engineering professionals, and security guards and child care workers has narrowed in Finland, Norway and Sweden, but only marginally. In the case of psychologists and engineering professionals, there has been a decrease of 2–3%, and in the case of security guards and child care workers it has been 1–4%. Moreover, the Swedish statistics show that the pay gap was narrowest for both groups in 2020 and has increased slightly since then.

#### Development over time

Data on the development of the pay gap over time indicate whether the pay gap is narrowing. In this respect, it is important to be able to follow developments over a number of years. As an example, pay development in the female-dominated occupations of department managers in primary and secondary education and adult education, department managers in social and curative care and department managers in elderly care can be compared with the pay development in the maledominated occupations of IT service managers, production managers in construction and mining, and production managers in manufacturing, between the years 2014 and 2022. The comparison is based on Swedish statistics, in which development over time is easy to follow.

	IT service managers	Construction Managers	Production managers
	2014–2022	2014–2022	2014–2022
Department managers in education	9% -> 13%	26% -> 17%	6% -> -3%
Department managers in social work	19% -> 21%	33% -> 25%	16% -> 7%
Department managers in elderly care	14% -> 22%	29% -> 25%	11% -> 8%

## Table 8: Pay gap comparison between female-dominated and male-dominatedmanagerial occupations in 2014 and 2022 respectively. Source: Statistics Sweden.

IT service managers have seen the best pay growth of all groups, and the pay gap between IT service managers and all three female-dominated managerial occupations has increased. However, the pay gap has narrowed in all other cases, to the extent that in 2022 department managers in education received higher pay than production managers in manufacturing. The gap remains widest between female-dominated managerial occupations and construction managers, although it has narrowed since 2014.

However, comparing pay gaps between two years is not enough. The picture of narrowing pay gaps is more nuanced when more years are added to the comparison. Comparisons between female-dominated managerial occupations and IT service managers have been omitted from the graph below, for readability.



## Figure 8: Development of the pay gap from 2014 to 2022, comparing managers in education, social work and elderly care, and managers in construction and manufacturing.

Out of the six occupational comparisons, only two, between managers in manufacturing and managers in both social work and construction, show a slight narrowing trend. Managers in education have received higher pay than production managers in manufacturing since 2016, i.e. the pay gap has been reversed, and since 2020 it has been slowly narrowing in favour of production managers. For all three other comparisons, a narrower pay gap was observed at some point between 2014 and 2022, but the trend has either reversed and is widening or has stabilised at a wider level. Thus, a comparison between only two years is not necessarily an accurate reflection of the situation.

The sharp reduction in the pay gap for comparisons with construction managers in 2018 is not explained by the statistical data. By studying the pay gap over several

years, anomalies in single years are less pronounced than if the statistics had been used to study the pay gap in 2018, for example.

Returning to female managers in the Finnish statistics, a group discussed in the section on classifications at the three- and four-digit levels, there are also interesting developments to observe:



Manufacturing, Mining, Construction and Distribution Managers

#### Figure 9: Gender pay gap and proportion of women in occupation 132 Manufacturing, mining, construction and distribution managers and occupational groups, in Finland in 2012 and 2022.

Figure 9 shows that the proportion of women in the minor group (three-digit level 132) increased by five per cent between the reference years. There was no gender pay gap for the group in 2012, but in 2022 there was a gender pay gap of 10%. The gender pay gap therefore increased by more than the corresponding increase in the proportion of women in the occupational area.

If we use statistical data linked to the four-digit level of the occupational classification, other patterns emerge.

- For construction managers (1323), the proportion of women increased by 4%. In 2012, the pay gap for this occupational group was 'inverted' with respect to how pay gaps typically manifest, with women earning on average 108% of men's pay, but by 2022 the pay gap had widened to 11% to the detriment of women.
- For manufacturing managers (1321), the proportion of women also increased, by 11%, but the pay gap narrowed, from 10% in 2012 to 3% in 2022.
- For distribution managers (1324), the pattern is again different with the proportion of women remaining unchanged between 2012 and 2022 but the pay gap increasing by 16%.

Thus, trends can differ significantly, and an increase in the proportion of women in a profession can coincide with either an increase or decrease in the pay gap.

### Sector, pay and occupation

In Norway (*frontfagsmodellen*; front-runner model) and Sweden (*industrimärket*; industrial mark), there is a more-or-less-formalised agreement that public sector pay may not exceed pay in the export industry, and a similar model is being introduced in Finland (*vientivetoinen palkkamalli*; export-driven pay model). In practice, pay in the same occupation is usually lower in the local government sector <sup>[2]</sup>, while in the central government it often remains at the same level or higher than the private sector.

Thus, assuming that individuals working in the same occupation do the similar work, the pay they receive for this work is not necessarily similar if they work in different sectors. This relationship has clear gender equality implications as women are more likely to work in the relatively lower-paid local government sector than men: more than a third of working women compared to about 10% of men in Finland, Norway and Sweden. The table below shows the distribution of women and men across sectors.

<sup>2.</sup> However, we showed in the section on pair comparisons of pay in different occupations with approximately equivalent requirements for work that the pay for the occupational group security guards was higher in the local government sector than in the private sector in Finland and Norway.

	Women, local govern- ment	Men, local govern- ment kommunal	Women, central govern- ment	Men, central govern- ment	Women, private	Men, private
Finland	35%	10%	4%	4%	61%	85%
Norway	34%	10%	15%	9%	52%	81%
Sweden	38%*	12%*	6%	5%	56%	83%

## Table 9: Percentage of women and men working in the local government, central government and private sectors in Finland, Norway and Sweden.

\* In Sweden, the regional sector is combined with the local government sector.

In Finland, Norway and Sweden, the mean and median pay in the central government sector are higher than in both the local government and private sectors. In most occupations, the number of central government employees is not large enough to significantly impact average pay in the public sector, and thus the pay differences between the public and private sectors. However there are a few occupations where this is the case.

The matter is further complicated when comparing different occupations in which work of equal value is performed. Support technicians and library staff are two such example occupations, one male dominated and the other female dominated. The sizes of pay gaps vary when sectoral affiliations are taken into account. The table is based on Finnish data. When comparing the private and local government sectors, the pay gap favours the government sector.



## Figure 10: Pay gap between and among support technicians and library staff in the local government, state government and private sectors in Finland.

The gap between the lowest and highest average monthly pay for these groups doing potentially equal work is 43%: from  $\leq 2,541$  for librarians employed by local governments to  $\leq 4,422$  for support technicians employed by central government. This is comparable with the already large gap between support technicians and librarians when sectoral affiliation is not taken into account.

#### Full-time and part-time work

Comparing the pay of full-time and part-time workers is not straightforward, even within the same occupation. In this section, it is assumed that individuals are doing equal work (because they are doing 'similar' work), although this is not always the case. It can be seen that both the proportion of full- and part-time employees and the impact of working hours on pay vary considerably across occupations.

It is not self-evident that full- and part-time workers do equal work, even in the same occupation – for example, part-time workers may have less extensive and therefore less skilled tasks than full-time workers, but the opposite can also be true, with part-time workers having more specialised and therefore more skilled tasks. Part-time workers may have inconvenient working hours and thus worse working conditions than full-time workers, or it may be that full-time workers have more inconvenient working hours. Some part-time work may be desired by employees, for

example in certain occupations, where the employees may be self-employed alongside their contractual employment relationship, while others may work part time because full-time work is not available.

Full-time employees are generally paid monthly, while part-time employees may be paid either monthly or hourly. When it comes to equal pay for work of equal value, these two types of pay must be comparable. The most common approaches to making full- and part-time pay comparable are converting full-time pay into hourly pay (as Statistics Finland does) or making hourly pay into full-time pay (as Statistics Sweden does). In both cases, total pay is divided or multiplied by normal working hours. It would theoretically be possible, and probably more correct, to make a calculation based on the degree of part-time work (% of full-time work) instead of the monthly pay of part-time employees, but this approach is not used. Converting different types of pay inherently introduces uncertainty and a margin of error in occupational categories where different pay types are used; thus, some of the figures are 'original' while others have been converted.

We requested statistics on part-time work by occupational categories from both Finland and Sweden, and in Sweden also by sectors. The intention was to separate 'short' and 'long' part-time work, i.e. part-time work up to 19 hours and part-time work of 20 hours or more. However, sectoral statistics in Sweden are incomplete: for occupations that exist in both the public and private sectors, the private sector data is missing even for groups of several hundred individuals. For example, the Swedish statistics divide salespersons workers into two occupational codes, for grocery and specialised stores, but do not include data on part-time work for grocery store salespersons. Missing data in the Finnish statistics seems to pertain to occupations with few practitioners, or at least few part-time workers. Due to the gaps in the Swedish statistics, this section is based on Finnish statistics, even though we have learnt from our samples that the situation differs from country to country.

In general, women in the Nordic countries work part time to a greater extent than men (Drange & Egeland, 2014). Across the Nordic countries, part-time work is most common among women in Norway (Mósesdóttir & Ellingsaeter, 2019). Part-time pay is often slightly lower than full-time pay per hour, although this is not always the case.

To provide a general picture, we examined 15 male-dominated and 15 femaledominated occupations from the Finnish statistics. While this may seem like a small sample, it is already clear that in many male-dominated occupations there are few part-time workers, therefore there is a lack of data on pay available in the statistics. We identified only 15 male-dominated occupations that include data on pay for both men and women working short and long part-time hours.

The first question is whether part-time workers receive lower pay than full-time workers, and the second question is whether this also varies by gender. Although

part-time workers often receive lower pay than full-time workers, this is not always the case. On the other hand, a gender pay gap is usually present even in comparisons of part-time workers. Two example comparisons, between software and application developers and pharmacists and between heavy truck and lorry drivers and shop salespersons, are presented, which show that the inclusion of part-time work can reveal very different patterns.

First the pay gap between men and women working full and part time in the occupation of software and application developers is examined. Male full-time software and application developers are paid 8% more than their full-time female colleagues. Among part-time workers, there is hardly any gender pay gap, although there is a pay gap to full-time workers.

Women working long part-time hours receive almost the same pay as their fulltime female colleagues, with the difference being only 1%, while women working short part-time hours receive 12% less pay than women working full time. Men who work many part-time hours are hit harder: they are paid at the same level as women, 9% less than their full-time male colleagues. If they choose to work short part-time hours, they are paid up to 19% less than men working full time. However, very few men (4%) and also few women (9%) work part time in this occupation.

One occupation that can be considered similar to that of software and application developers is pharmacists, an occupation dominated by women. Here the picture is quite different. Part-time work is much more common, with about 30% of both men and women working part time in this occupation. An examination reveals that there is virtually no gender pay gap within the occupation, either among full-time or part-time workers. On the other hand, both men and women who work few part-time hours earn significantly more than those who work full time, about 10% more than full-time pharmacists.

When comparing these two occupations, the differences present as follows:



## Figure 11: Pay of software and application developers and pharmacists, euros, Finland.

The overall pay gap (not shown in Figure 11) between the occupations of software and application developers and pharmacists is up to 30%. But among those working few part-time hours in these occupations, the difference is only 6%. This is mainly due to the fact that men working few part-time hours receive the highest pay among pharmacists and the lowest among software and application developers. The difference between men working few part-time hours across the two occupations is only 3%. However, the difference persists, and it is also worth keeping in mind that the number of software and application developers who receive this low level of pay is very low.

In general, few individuals work part time in male-dominated occupations. Overall, the pay gap between full-time employees and those working particularly short hours is greater among male-dominated occupations than female-dominated ones. This means that the pay gap among those working few part-time hours is often smaller than the overall pay gap between two occupations – and larger in the rare cases in which the female-dominated occupation receives higher pay overall.

The comparisons of part-time pay between occupations with many part-time workers are particularly interesting. Such occupations include shop salespersons (female dominated, 57% work part time) and heavy truck and lorry drivers (male dominated, 30% work part time). Here, part-time pay remains roughly equivalent to full-time pay in the male-dominated occupation, while it falls in the female-dominated occupation.



## Figure 12: Hourly pay of heavy truck and lorry drivers and shop salespersons, Finland.

The overall pay gap is 10%. However, the gap is larger among part-time workers, and it is highest among those working many part-time hours, where the occupational pay gap is 16%. This is mainly due to the fact that men in the category of shop salespersons, who are highly paid when working full time, receive significantly lower pay when working part time, dragging down the overall pay level of shop salespersons. Given that more than half of shop salespersons work part time, the overall pay gap of 10% thus paints a misleading picture.

## Age

The age structure of occupations can also influence the pay gap at the national level and should be included in Agenda 30 (UN 2025) reporting. In general, pay increases with age. While age is not considered a determinant of pay in itself, it is an indicator of increased experience. When evaluating whether two occupations in which work of equal value is performed, age is not a consideration – requirements of the occupation and not workers' characteristics should form the basis of the evaluation. However, if the age structure of two occupations differs significantly, this should raise some questions when comparing pay.

Comparing child care workers with security guards and bus and tram drivers with sports coaches and instructors provides an example of how age statistics can complement a general comparison of the pay levels of occupations. It can be seen that the pay gap increases in some age categories and that increased experience in female-dominated occupations does not necessarily have the pay impact that might be expected given its importance as an aspect in valuing occupations.

Take child care workers and security guards, for example. In Finland, 40% of security guards are under 30 years, while this is only true of 19% of child care workers. This ratio is reversed among employees over 50 years: 19% of security guards and 36% of child care workers belong to this age group.

The pay gap between child care workers and security guards is 17%. The gap is 5% larger, at 22%, in the 40-49 age group, which includes a quarter of child care workers. The highest pay for child care workers (in the 40-49 age group) is still 7% lower than the pay received by security guards in the youngest age group. Swedish statistics show a similar trend. The overall pay gap may therefore need further examination.



#### Figure 13: Pay for security guards and child care workers, Finland.

Almost a fifth (19%) of security guards are aged 24 or under and over half, 53%, are aged 34 or under. The overall pay gap is 19%. The gap is largest in the youngest age group, those aged 18-24 (25%), an example of two groups of workers that are both relatively inexperienced but are still subject to a significant pay gap.

It is common for the age structure of occupations that are considered comparable to differ in that male-dominated occupations have a higher proportion of young workers, not least because comparable female-dominated occupations often require more extensive education. However, this can also be the other way round. When comparing bus and tram drivers (male dominated) with sports coaches and instructors (female dominated) in Finland, the age structure also matters:

Pay gap bus and tram drivers – sports coaches and instructors: 16%

Pay gap bus and tram drivers – sports coaches and instructors younger than 40 years: 21%

Sports coaches and instructors: 52% are younger than 40 years

Bus and tram drivers: 21% are younger than 40 years

In other words, more than half of sports coaches and instructors are subject to a pay gap that is 5% larger than the general figure of 16% suggests, compared to equally experienced bus and tram drivers.

If age serves as an indicator of experience, the statistics may also raise a question about the comparability of occupations: can an occupation that is largely made up of younger individuals be considered to have the same requirements or be one in which work of equal value is performed as an occupation in which most employees have considerably more experience (are 40 years or older)?

#### Migrant background

The EU Transparency Directive 2023/970 emphasises the importance of an intersectional perspective in comparing men's and women's pay. Age is one factor that can interact with gender. Another is ethnicity or race. While statistics on these factors are not collected within the Nordic countries, there are statistics available on country of origin. It is also general knowledge that being born in a country outside Europe is generally correlated with lower pay, mainly due to differences in labour market profile: individuals with a migrant background are overrepresented in a number of occupations with a low level of pay. Within publicly available statistics, it is not possible to examine the gender pay gap, and thus the pay gap, for individual occupations. However, from the Swedish statistical database, data can be extracted that suggests this could be of interest: while the income gap (which includes earnings in addition to pay) between newly arrived women and men is often large, it decreases more and more the longer the individuals remain in Sweden, to generally become narrower than the overall unweighted pay gap in Sweden, which here is 19% (i.e. women's income is 81% of men's income). In 2022, this was the trend for individuals from selected countries and for all individuals born outside Sweden combined:



## Figure 14: Women's income as a percentage of men's in 2022 by number of years in Sweden, by country of origin.

While the income gap between women and men from the same country is thus narrowing, and often reversing, it should be remembered that an income gap between those born in Sweden and those born abroad still exists. The pay gap between Swedish-born men and foreign-born men who have been in Sweden for over 20 years is 10%, while the equivalent figure for women is 4%.



## 9. Education, gender, and pay

A clear pattern in the labour market is that pay varies across occupations according to education level. A general pattern, though one with several exceptions, not least related to gender, is that people with longer education can usually expect higher pay than those with shorter education. The normal length of formal education and training within an occupation is a factor in determining the skill level of the occupation in national occupational classifications.

The International Standard Classification of Occupations, ISCO-08, to which national classification systems adhere, organises occupations partly hierarchically by education, based on four broad skill levels:

Level 1: Primary education

Level 2: Secondary education, short vocational training

Level 3: Higher education, 1-3 years

Level 4: Higher education, 3-6 years

These levels of education relate to the occupational areas of the ISCO classification as follows. However, professional experience requirements can be used instead of or in addition to educational requirements at all levels.

#### Table 10: Occupational areas and qualification levels in ISCO-08.

Occupational area	Skill level
0 Armed forces occupations	1+2+4
1 Managers	3+4
2 Professionals	4
3 Technicians and associate professionals	3
4 Clerical support workers	2
5 Service and sales workers	2
6 Skilled agricultural, forestry, and fishery workers	2
7 Craft and related trades workers	2
8 Plant and machine operators and assemblers	2
9 Elementary occupations	1

The various national classification systems have adapted the broad skill classes of ISCO to their own educational systems. The instructions for ISCO-08 (in contrast to previous versions) also emphasise that the typical tasks of the occupation and not education should determine the classification of the occupation, to allow for comparisons of occupations internationally despite the different educational systems in different countries (Tilastokeskus, 2011). As a result, occupational areas 4– 8 in particular may contain very different qualification requirements, and the classification system itself includes little information about formal educational requirements.

However, most job evaluation systems used for pay setting and pay comparisons consider education to be the most important, and thus often determining, factor in defining pay levels. This is also because it often co-varies with the factor of responsibility.

## Equal pay for different education

In the Nordic countries, significantly more women than men undertake higher education. In 2021, 61% of Finnish and Swedish students and 57% of Norwegian students were women (Eurostat, 2021). This is the result of a decades-long trend; according to Pekkarinen (2012), even as far back as 1990 the proportion of female students in higher education in the Nordic countries was higher than that of men. Thus, the fact that women more often than men undertake higher education should help reduce the gender pay gap, given the general pattern that those with longer education can be expected to receive higher pay than those with shorter education.

However, the gender pay gap is found to be larger among highly educated and highly paid employees (Måwe, 2019), which in itself increases the overall gender pay gap. The effect of the segregation of higher education is even more important. As women and men choose different study programmes, they end up in different occupations with different pay levels (Hägglund, 2024; Ransmayr & Weichselbaumer, 2024).

There is thus an 'education gap' in relation to gender and pay. Instead of women and men who receive the same pay having a similar level of education, as would be expected, it seems instead that they have different levels of education. Table 11 exemplifies this by showing the educational levels for men and women who receive (almost) the same monthly pay. The examples for men's pay are related to maledominated fields of education, while the examples for women's pay relate to female-dominated or gender-equal fields of education.

Education	Gender	Monthly pay
3-year engineering programme, higher education	Men	51,300
5-year pharmacy programme, higher education	Women	51,400
One or more semesters of higher education, technology, non-degree	Men	47,500
5-year architectural programme, higher education	Women	47,200
Energy and plumbing, upper-secondary level	Men	38,500
3 years or more, humanities, higher education	Women	38,500

## Table 11: Example comparison of men's and women's educational levels given similar monthly pay. Monthly pay in SEK. Source: Statistics Sweden.

The examples in Table 11 show that for all three levels of monthly pay compared, women have a significantly higher level of education than men.

Education level alone cannot serve as a direct indicator of job equivalence when comparing different occupations, as responsibility, effort and working conditions must also be taken into account. However, since skill requirements, which are largely a matter of education, factor heavily in the valuation of a job, large differences in pay between individuals with equal levels of education, or large differences in educational level between individuals who receive equal pay, are a reason to reflect on whether differences are justified.

A comparison in which a male-dominated job with lower educational requirements has higher pay than a female-dominated job with higher educational requirements does not, of course, always represent a comparison of jobs regarded as doing work of equal value, but comparing education and pay can reveal potential pay gaps between different occupational areas that do not necessarily come to the surface in an analysis of pay for work of equal value when looking exclusively at different occupations.

### National statistics on education – and their shortcomings

Information on education in national statistics is relatively coarse-grained and therefore does not provide detailed knowledge in relation to pay for work of equal value. There are some differences between the Nordic countries when comparing how data on education can be related to data on occupations and pay in national statistics.

Finnish pay statistics are broken down by sector. For the local and central government sectors, the variables of level of education (8 levels) and field of education (99 fields) can be combined. For monthly pay in the private sector, instead of defining the level and field of education, 468 different degrees are specified. Hourly pay in the private sector is organised in the same way as monthly pay in the public sector, while information on education in relation to hourly pay in the public sector is not provided. Some information on educational fields can be linked to specific occupations, however there are also many broad programmes included that serve as a possible background for a variety of occupations. All tables are broken down by gender. However, in addition to the absence of part-time public sector employees in the statistics, comparisons between the private and public sectors are complicated.

In the Norwegian statistics, education is divided into five levels (primary and lowersecondary education, upper-secondary education, specialised education, short university and/or college education of up to 4 years) and long university and/or college education (4 years or more and postgraduate education). In the pay statistics, this data can be refined with information pertaining to educational subject area (179 education groups in total), which can be linked to information on monthly pay but not broken down by gender or directly linked to occupational classifications.

In the Swedish education statistics, information on pay can be obtained for every occupation across seven levels of education, from pre-secondary education of less than 9 years up to postgraduate education, for example the average pay for male and female employment officers with upper-secondary or short or long postsecondary education. Pay statistics are available for about 100 groups pertaining to educational fields, some of which are clearly linked to certain occupations, while others are broader.

Danish statistics provide information on the educational status of the population, e.g. information on gender is available in relation to highest level of education completed based on 93 educational groups or a number of main groups (corresponding to education levels) from primary to postgraduate level. Information on pay by educational group (89 different education groups) is available in relation to sector, type of pay (hourly/fixed), pay recipient group (e.g. employee, manager), different pay components (25 options, e.g. overtime premiums) and gender. However, this data is not linked to occupational classifications.

In Icelandic statistics, detailed information is provided on the number of students in different study programmes in tables covering 'line of study' or 'detailed field of study'. These tables are available for different levels of tertiary education, uppersecondary education and non-tertiary post-secondary education. Several of these lines of study and detailed fields of study correspond to specific occupations. All tables are broken down by gender, and trends can optionally be followed over several years. However, there is no direct link to occupations or pay.

Thus, in some cases, statistical data on education can be linked to a particular occupation, provided individuals work in the area associated with their education – which is not always the case. So, there is an uncertainty factor here too. In the context of work of equal value, gender-disaggregated statistics on education and pay in their current form can mainly be used to draw attention to anomalies in the pay level of occupations in relation to their skill requirements. For organisations, such as trade unions, that are interested in knowing how the pay their members receive compares with other occupational groups facing equal demands in their work, detailed information on educational background and level can be relevant.



## 10. Summary of recommendations

This pilot study has explored how available official statistics can be used to measure pay differentials between women and men in work of equal value at the national level in the Nordic countries, with a particular focus on Finland, Norway and Sweden. As stated previously, this report makes no claims about how equivalence between occupations can be determined at the national level or which occupations should be considered as ones in which work of equal value is performed. The study is written *as if* it is possible to identify occupations in which work of equal value is performed, leaning on the Swedish expert network Lönelotsarna's (Harriman et al., 2023) valuation of occupations based on the Swedish occupational classification. In light of the explorative analysis of national statistics carried out in this study, some tentative recommendations are provided for facilitating the collection of relevant statistics on pay differentials for work of equal value across occupations at the national level.

The first recommendations concern national occupational classifications. The authors recognise that occupational classifications serve a variety of purposes and that collecting statistics and introducing changes presents challenges. Thus, the following recommendations are to be considered a wish list based solely on the need to compare pay between jobs in which work of equal value is performed. Currently, each of the three countries surveyed already follows one or more of the recommendations, but they differ in those they follow and none follows all of them.

As the classifications are a relevant starting point for identifying work of equal value across occupations, it is important that they present information on occupations at the same level of detail, as far as possible. At present, classifications at the four-digit level are generally the most detailed with regard to defining an occupation for statistical purposes. However, the 'map' provided by the occupational classifications does not always coincide with reality or fulfil the required demands. An overall recommendation is therefore to:

#### Revise the occupational classifications

Large, female-dominated occupational groups may need to be broken down into more occupations, while smaller male-dominated occupational groups in which relatively similar work is performed could be merged. Individual countries can sometimes draw inspiration from their Nordic neighbours in terms of reviewing the occupational classifications and determining the level of detail in which different occupations are classified.

The remaining recommendations from the pilot study concern the basic requirements that official, national statistics would need to fulfil to facilitate analysis of pay differences between women and men in work of equal value in occupations at the national level in the Nordic countries. The recommendations can be seen as complementing and expanding on what is prescribed in the EU Pay Transparency Directive 2023/970 and the reporting requirements for Agenda 2030, Target 8.5.1. They cover statistics that should be available for analyses of gender and pay for work of equal value at the national level and also which statistics would be relevant for such analyses:

- It is a basic requirement that statistics on the number of men and women within occupations at the 4-digit level are available in the same table as pay.
   Even if it is not possible to provide mean and median pay for reasons of privacy, in cases in which there are very few women or men within an occupation, the overall number of women and men should be available.
- Data on both mean and median pay for occupations in the classification system should be available.

The examples in the pilot study demonstrate that the pay gap can vary depending on the measure used, but the patterns are not always the same for different occupations, justifying the use of multiple statistical measures.

 Pay data should be available for each sector (private and public, public divided into central and local government) and the sectors combined.

Patterns in pay vary across different sectors of the labour market: for example, the pay gap in the private sector is often larger than in the public sector (Hoen et al., 2024). If the work performed in an occupation is of equal value across sectors, the overall average, for the sectors combined, should serve as the basis for pay comparisons. Analyses of the gender pay gap for work of equal value should, according to the EU Pay Transparency Directive, allow for comparisons across sectors.

 National statistics should include easily accessible data on the number of women and men working full and part time in each occupation and on fulland part-time pay. Given the importance of working hours in determining actual pay, and the fact that women work part time to a greater extent than men in the Nordic countries, it is important to analyse the impact of part-time work on pay and pay differentials between different occupations. In this context, it is particularly important to consider the way in which part-time and full-time pay are made comparable.

#### Data on the age structures of occupations in the same table as pay are needed.

Age structures can affect both the equivalence of occupations and their mean and median pay. A cursory check of whether otherwise comparable occupations have very different age structures may require that the overall pay gap be specified with respect to different age groups.

 Statistics should include the number of native- and foreign-born persons within occupations, broken down into women and men, and their mean and median pay, at least for occupations with many foreign-born workers. The EU Pay Transparency Directive recognises the importance of taking intersectional discrimination into account. Instances of possible structural discrimination at the national level can be detected by comparing the pay of native and foreign-born workers. In occupations with many foreign-born workers, their pay levels can affect the gender pay picture of the occupation and thus also gender pay comparisons with occupations of equal value.

• Statistics on education should be easily linkable to data on gender and pay. Data on education in the national statistical databases is relatively coarsegrained, although to different degrees in the three countries. The fact that education and pay are separate statistical domains means that the data on education and pay cannot be easily linked. Analyses of pay differentials based on education can highlight the pay gap between women with higher education and men with lower education. Many educational qualifications are directly linked to different occupations, and it would be beneficial for combined statistics on education and pay to be sufficiently detailed to enable occupations to be identified and compared on this basis.

#### It should be easy to follow developments over time.

Time series are needed at a minimum for data on mean and median pay and the number of men and women in occupations at the four-digit level of the classification systems, both by sector and for the sectors combined. The development of the current pay gap within and between occupations in which work of equal value is performed can be useful for making predictions about or influencing the future development of the pay gap. For example, changes in the gender pay gap may relate to changes in the gender composition of occupations or changes in the shares of the private and public sectors.
## References

Aaberge, R., m.fl. (2018). *Increasing Income Inequality in the Nordics. Nordic Economic Policy review 2018*. TemaNord 2018:519. Nordic Council of Ministers. (<u>http://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1198429/fulltext01.pdf</u>)

Acker, J. (1989). *Doing comparable worth*. Temple University Press.

AML2010. Ammattiluokitus 2010. Statistics Finland. (https://stat.fi/sv/luokitukset/ammatti/ammatti 1 20100101)

Andrén, T. (2018). Löneskillnader mellan yrken och den könsuppdelade arbetsmarknaden. Underlagsrapport. SACO.

(https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Thomas-

<u>Andren/publication/324586551 Loneskillnader mellan yrken och den konsuppdela</u> <u>de arbetsmarknaden/links/5ad6fab1458515c60f56bc4c/Loeneskillnader-mellan-</u> <u>yrken-och-den-koensuppdelade-arbetsmarknaden.pdf</u>)

Bender, A.-F., & Pigeyre, F. (2016). Job evaluation and gender pay equity: A French example. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, 35, 267–279.

DISCO-08. *Danmarks Statistiks fagklassifikation.* Danmarks Statistik. (<u>https://www.dst.dk/da/Statistik/dokumentation/nomenklaturer/disco</u>)

Egede Hansen, G., Bel, G., & Helby Petersen, O. (2023). The Unequal Distribution of Consequences of Contracting Out: Female, Low-skilled, and Young Workers Pay the Highest Price. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *33*(3), 434– 452. (https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muac041)

Ekberg, J., Beijron, P., Widegren, D., & Löfgren, S. (2023a). *Löneskillnaden mellan kvinnor och män 2022.* Vad säger den officiella lönestatistiken? (<u>https://www.mi.se/publikationer/loneskillnaden-mellan-kvinnor-och-man-2022/</u>)

Ekberg, J., Beijron, P., Andersson, F.W., Lindgren, J., & Widegren, D. (2023b). Inkomstskillnader mellan kvinnor och män. Regeringsuppdrag till Medlingsinstitutet 2022–2023. Medlingsinstitutet.

(https://www.mi.se/publikationer/inkomstskillnader-mellan-kvinnor-och-man/)

Ekberg, J., Beijron, P., Widegren, D., & Löfgren, S. (2024). *Löneskillnaden mellan kvinnor och män 2023. Vad säger den officiella lönestatistiken.* Medlingsinstitutet. (<u>https://www.mi.se/publikationer/loneskillnaden-mellan-kvinnor-och-man-2023/</u>)

Ellingsaeter, A. L. (2013). Scandinavian welfare states and gender (de) segregation: Recent trends and processes. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *34*(3), 501–518. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X13491616</u>) EU 2023/970. Europaparlamentets och rådets direktiv (EU) 2023/970 om stärkt tillämpning av principen om lika lön för kvinnor och män för lika eller likvärdigt arbete genom insyn i lönesättningen och efterlevnadsmekanismer. (<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/SV/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32023L0970</u>)

Eurostat (2021).

(https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/educ\_uoe\_grad09/default/table? lang=en&category=educ.educ\_outc.educ\_uoe\_grad)

Eurostat (2022). <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?</u> <u>title=Gender\_pay\_gap\_statistics</u>

Gaweł, A., & Mroczek-Dąbrowska, K. (2022). Gender pay gap in explaining female entrepreneurship – industry perspective of selected European countries. *International Journal of Manpower*, *43*(9), 42–59. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-12-</u> 2020-0554)

Grini, K.H., & Fløtre, I. (2023). *Lønnsgapet i Norge. Lønnsforskjellen mellom menn og kvinner – hvor stor er den?* Statistisk sentralbyrå. (<u>https://www.ssb.no/arbeid-og-</u> <u>lonn/lonn-og-arbeidskraftkostnader/artikler/lonnsgapet-i-</u> <u>norge/ /attachment/inline/d5758cea-dd26-434e-b0c0-</u> <u>b73bc999b855:559d2fc99dde9e0cfc7adf68c20d0d2b23becdae/RAPP2023-</u> <u>04 medlenker.pdf</u>)

Grimshaw, D., & Rubery, J. (2007). *Undervaluing women's work.* Working Paper Series No. 53. European Work and Employment Research Centre. University of Manchester.

Harriman, A., Johansson, L., & Trollvik, M. (2023). *Strukturella löneskillnader. Högt värderad, låg lön.* Lönelotsarna.

(https://static1.squarespace.com/static/57bd44a0197aeab07f381350/t/5c4c7cd1b8 a04550fe91e329/1548516563268/En+%28o%29fullst%C3%A4ndig+bild+av+l%C3% B6neskillnader+2017.pdf)

Hoen, M., Reisel, L., Rogne, A., & Salvanes, K. (2024). *Ulik lønn for likt arbeid? Lønnsforskjeller mellom kvinner og menn, 2015–2022.* Rapport 2024:8. Institutt for samfunnsforskning. (<u>https://samfunnsforskning.brage.unit.no/samfunnsforskning-</u><u>xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/3164447/ISF\_Rapport\_2024\_8%2b-</u> %2blikel%25C3%25B8nn.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y)

Hägglund, A. E. (2024). Same degrees, different outcomes? Fields of study choices and gender wage inequality in Finland and Germany. *Social Science Research*, 122, 103029-. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2024.103029</u>)

ILO (2013). Equal Pay. An introductory guide. ILO. (<u>https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/files/wcmsp5/groups/public/%40dgreports/%4</u> Odcomm/%40publ/documents/publication/wcms 216695.pdf) ISCO-08 International Standard Classification of Occupations. Structure, group definitions and correspondence tables. ILO.

https://www.ilo.org/sites/default/files/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcom m/@publ/documents/publication/wcms\_172572.pdf

Job Evaluation. Report of the Task Force on Pay Equity and Equality in the Labour Market. Iceland Government Offices.

(https://www.diskrimineringslagen.se/uploads/2024 Job Evalation Island -\_report.pdf)

Johansson, L. (2021). *Indikator för likvärdigt arbete.* Bilaga 3 till Jämställdhetsmyndighetens rapport 2022:2.

(<u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/media/x1qm2v1z/bilaga-3-till-rapport-2022-2.pdf</u>)

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten (2022). *Ekonomisk jämställdhet. En uppföljning av senare års utveckling av det jämställdhetspolitiska delmålet.* Rapport 2022:2 Jämställdhetsmyndigheten.

(https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/media/2rdiwo0s/rapport-2022-2ekonomisk-jamstalldhet-2022-02-08.pdf)

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten (2023). *Likvärdiga yrken – likvärdiga kollektivavtal? En jämförelse av kollektivavtal inom kvinno- och mansdominerade yrken.* Underlagsrapport 2023:6. Jämställdhetsmyndigheten. (<u>https://www.diskrimineringslagen.se/uploads/23-04-</u> <u>27 Calleman Likvardiga yrken - Likvardiga kollektivavtal.pdf</u>)

Jämställdhetsmyndigheten (2024). *Jämställdhetsarbetet tappar styrfart. Resultatrapporten 2024.* Rapport 2024:10. Jämställdhetsmyndigheten. (<u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/media/hyefekky/rapport-2024-10-</u> <u>resultatrapporten-24-04-22.pdf</u>)

Koskinen Sandberg, P. (2017). Intertwining gender inequalities and gender-neutral legitimacy in job evaluation and performance-related pay. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, 24(2), 156–170. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12156</u>)

Koskinen Sandberg, P., & Saari, M. (2019). Sisters (can't) unite! Wages as macropolitical and the gendered power orders of corporatism. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, *26*(5), 633–649. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12300</u>)

Kostiainen, L. (2023). Samapalkkaisuusohjelman ja hallituksen samapalkkaisuustoimenpiteiden kokonaisarviointi 2020–2023. Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2023:1. [Helhetsbedömning av likalönsprogrammet och regeringens åtgärder för lika lön 2020–2023.] Helsinki: Valtioneuvoston julkaisuarkisto Valto. (<u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-5595-</u><u>0</u>) Kowalewska, H. (2023). Gendered employment patterns: Women's labour market outcomes across 24 countries. *Journal of European Social Policy*, *33*(2), 151–168. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/09589287221148336</u>)

Kumlin, J. (2016). Sakligt motiverad eller koppling till kön?: En analys av arbetsgivares arbete med att motverka osakliga löneskillnader mellan kvinnor och män. Diskrimineringsombudsmannen (DO)

(https://www.do.se/download/18.277ff225178022473141e34/1661847976049/rappor t-sakligt-motiverad-eller-koppling-till-kon.pdf)

Laine, P. (2024). *Työelämän muutokset, sukupuolten työmarkkina-asema ja samapalkkaisuus.* Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2024:26. [Förändringarna i arbetslivet, jämställdheten på arbetsmarknaden och lika lön.] Valtioneuvoston julkaisuarkisto Valto. (<u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-8458-5</u>)

Laine, P. & Kauhanen, A. (2023). *Naisten ja miesten työuraerot Suomen teollisuuden kuukausipalkkaisella henkilöstöllä 2002–2020.* Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2023:23. [Skillnaderna mellan månadsavlönade kvinnors och mäns arbetskarriärer inom den finländska industrin 2002–2020] Valtioneuvoston julkaisuarkisto Valto. (<u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-8441-7</u>)

Likalönsprogrammet 2020–2023 (2020). Regeringens och arbetsmarknadens centralorganisationers programenliga åtgärder. *Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2020:1.* Social- och hälsovårdsministeriet. (<u>https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/162642/STM\_2021\_1\_ra</u> <u>p.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>)

Lønstrukturkommitéens hovedrapport (2023).

(https://www.loenstrukturkomiteen.dk/media/m3klvrmg/loenstrukturkomite-nshovedrapport.pdf)

Mósesdóttir, L. & Ellingsaeter, A.L. (2019). Ideational struggles over women's parttime work in Norway: Destabilizing the gender contract. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 40(4), 108–1038. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X16681483</u>)

Måwe, I. (2019). *Lika lön i Norden – lagar och politiska strategier.* Nordiska ministerrådet och NIKK. (<u>https://www.gu.se/sites/default/files/2022-03/2019-</u> Likalo%CC%88n-i-Norden%202202.pdf)

Neu Morén, E. & Eriksson Lindwall, C. (2013). *Det du behöver veta om lön och lönesättning.* Studentlitteratur.

Nicolás-Martínez, C., López-Martínez, M., & Riquelme-Perea, P. J. (2023). Gender and work in Europe: towards the end of inequality? *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 1–17. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14782804.2023.2288244</u>) NOU 2008:6 *Kjønn og lønn – Fakta, analyser og virkemidler for likelønn.* Departementenes servicesenter.

(https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/39b49bdffe6f44faa80f6c3f26de2b8a/n o/pdfs/nou200820080006000dddpdfs.pdf)

NOU 2013:13 *Lønnsdannelsen og utfordringer for norsk økonomi.* Departementenes servicesenter.

(https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/7682d9ecd19b4794bb687c160a020f07/ no/pdfs/nou201320130013000dddpdfs.pdf)

NOU 2024:6 Grunnlaget for inntektsoppgjørene 2024. Det tekniske beregningsutvalget for inntektsoppgjørene. Avgitt til Arbeids- og inkluderingsdepartementet 22. mars 2024.

(<u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/aktuelt/grunnlaget-for-inntektsoppgjorene-2024-forelopig-rapport/id3025862/</u>)

O'Reilly, J., Smith, M., Deakin, S., & Burchell, B. (2015). Equal pay as a moving target: International perspectives on forty-years of addressing the gender pay gap. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 299–317. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bev010</u>)

Oslo Economics (2022). Statlige virksomheters rapportering om lik lønn for arbeid av lik verdi. En prosessevaluering på oppdrag fra Kommunal- og distriktsdepartementet. Oslo Economics.

(https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/a5f0d35640a244d1850c7b4538bf907e /oe-rapport-32-2022-statlige-virksomheters-rapportering-om-lik-lonn-for-arbeidav-lik-verdi.pdf)

Peetz, D. (2015). Regulation distance, labour segmentation and gender gaps. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 345–362. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/beu054</u>)

Pekkarinen, T. (2012). Gender differences in education. *Nordic economic policy review: economics of education*, 2012:1, pp 165–194. Nordic Council of Ministers. (<u>http://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:702820/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>)

Prop 23/24:1, *Budgetpropositionen för 2024.* Bilaga 3. (<u>https://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/e1afccd2ec7e42f6af3b651091df139c/bu</u> <u>dgetpropositionen-for-2024-hela-dokumentet-prop.2023241.pdf</u>)

Ransmayr, J., & Weichselbaumer, D. (2024). The Role of Sex Segregation in the Gender Wage Gap Among University Graduates in Germany. *Jahrbücher Für Nationalökonomie Und Statistik*, 244(1), 37–81. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/jbnst-2022-</u> 0018) Rubery, J., & Grimshaw, D. (2015). The 40-year pursuit of equal pay: A case of constantly moving goalposts. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *39*(2), 319–343. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/beu053</u>)

Saari, M., Kantola, J., & Koskinen Sandberg, P. (2021). Implementing equal pay policy: Clash between gender equality and corporatism. *Social Politics*, *28*(2), 265–289. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxz020</u>)

Salminen-Karlsson, M. & Fogelberg Eriksson, A. (2020). Arbetsvärdering och lönekartläggning: ett verktyg för jämställdhet? I: Keisu, B-I. (red.) *Att arbeta för lika villkor: ett genus- och maktperspektiv på arbete och organisation*. Studentlitteratur.

Salminen-Karlsson, M., & Fogelberg Eriksson, A. (2023). Limits of accountability: Gender pay audits in Swedish municipalities. I: Conley, H., & Koskinen Sandberg, P. (Eds.). *Handbook on Gender and Public Sector Employment*. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Salminen-Karlsson, M., Fogelberg Eriksson, A., & Neu-Morén, E. (2015). *Att koda på BESTA sätt. Reflektioner om kodning och kön.* Centrum för genusvetenskap, Uppsala Universitet. (<u>https://www.diva-</u> <u>portal.org/smash/get/diva2:869424/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>)

Salvanes, K. V. (2023). *Lønns- og karriereutvikling blant høyt utdannede i Norge,* 2015–2022. Rapport 2023:10. Institutt for samfunnsforskning. (<u>https://samfunnsforskning.brage.unit.no/samfunnsforskning-</u> <u>xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/3105994/Rapport 10 23 UUweb.pdf?</u> <u>sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>)

Semenza, R., Boccardo, G., & Sarti, S. (2021). So far, so similar? Labour market feminization in Italy and Chile. *Social Indicators Research*, *154*(3), 917–942. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-020-02551-0</u>)

SFS 2008:567. Diskrimineringslag. <u>(https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/diskrimineringslag-2008567\_sfs-2008-567/</u>)

Social- och hälsovårdsministeriet (2020). *Likalönsprogrammet 2020–* 2023. Regeringens och arbetsmarknadens centralorganisationers programenliga åtgärder. Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2021:1. Social- och hälsovårdsministeriet.

(https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/handle/10024/162623)

Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriö (2022). Samanarvoinen työ – hankkeen loppuraportti. Sosiaali- ja terveysministeriön raportteja ja muistioita 2022:28. (<u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-5439-7</u>) Steinberg, R. (1992). Gendered instructions: Cultural lag and gender bias in the Hay system of job evaluation. *Work and Occupations, 19*(4), 387–423.

Stockdale, M. S., & Nadler, J. T. (2013). Paradigmatic assumptions of disciplinary research on gender disparities: The case of occupational sex segregation. *Sex Roles*, *68*(3–4), 207–215. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-012-0228-1</u>)

SOU 2014:34 (2014). *Inte bara jämställdhet. Intersektionella perspektiv på hinder och möjligheter i arbetslivet.* Forskningsrapport till Delegationen för jämställdhet i arbetslivet. Fritzes.

(https://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/5d2854cb8ddc4285af0aff0105c02540/ inte-bara-jamstalldhet---intersektionella-perspektiv-pa-hinder-och-mojligheter-iarbetslivet-sou-201434/)

SSYK 2012. *Standard för svensk yrkesklassificering 2012*. Statistiska Centralbyrån. (<u>https://www.scb.se/dokumentation/klassifikationer-och-standarder/standard-for-svensk-yrkesklassificering-ssyk/</u>)

Statice.is <u>https://statice.is/publications/news-archive/labour-market/register-</u> based-employment-in-july-2024/

STYRK-08. *Standard for yrkesklassifisering.* Statistisk Sentralbyrå. (<u>https://www.ssb.no/arbeid-og-lonn/artikler-og-publikasjoner/standard-for-yrkesklassifisering-styrk-08</u>)

Stüber, E. (2024). *Vägar till lika lön för likvärdigt arbete: Reglering, rapportering och praktisk tillämpning i Norden.* Nordiska ministerrådet. (<u>https://www.gu.se/sites/default/files/2024-10/temanord2024-540.pdf</u>)

Teräsaho, M., Tanhua, I., & Rantanen, E. (2023). *Tasa-arvon edistäminen työpaikoilla. Keinoja sukupuolen mukaisen segregaation purkamiseen.* Social- och hälsovårdsministeriets rapporter och promemorior 2023:21. [Främjande av jämställdhet på arbetsplatserna – metoder för att avveckla könssegregationen.] Valtioneuvoston julkaisuarkisto Valto. (<u>https://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-8433-2</u>)

Unite Nations (2024) SDG Indicators. UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Statistics Division. (<u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/indicators/indicators-list/</u>)

Verner, M. & Mikkelsen, C.H. (2023). *Kønsforskelle i timeløn i den private sektor – med særligt fokus på funktionærer.* VIVE.

(https://www.vive.dk/da/udgivelser/koensforskelle-i-timeloen-i-den-private-sektormed-saerligt-fokus-paa-funktionaerer-rv790kxn/)

Wagner, I., Fjell, L., Frisell, M. M., & Østbakken, K. (2020). *Likelønn og det kjønnsdelte arbeidsmarkedet. Individuelle preferanser eller strukturelle begrensninger?* Rapport 2020:4. Institutt for samfunnsforskning. (<u>https://samfunnsforskning.brage.unit.no/samfunnsforskning-</u>xmlui/handle/11250/2641600) Wagner, I., & Teigen, M. (2022). Egalitarian inequality: Gender equality and pattern bargaining. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, 29(2), 486–501. (<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12774</u>)

www.mi.se/nyheter/2023/rakna-med-medianlon-eller-genomsnittslon/ (Hämtad 24 oktober 2024)

www.ssb.no/arbeid-og-lonn/lonn-og-arbeidskraftkostnader/statistikk/lonn#omstatistikken

## **Appendix: Method**

The analysis of how available official statistics can be used to measure the pay gap between women and men for work of equal value involved a number of different activities which are summarised in this section.

*Expert dialogue:* As part of the information gathering phase and discussion on the implementation of the project, four interviews were conducted in June 2024 with experts, researchers and investigators in the field: two researchers from Finland, two researchers from Norway and one investigator from Sweden. These were supplemented by information gathering and recommendations by a researcher in Iceland. The aims were to gain insights into relevant statistical sources on pay outside of those available through the websites of the national statistical offices, develop an understanding of how the issue of equal pay for work of equal value is discussed in each country, as well as whether it is perceived as an issue on their respective political agendas, and identify any actors driving the issue that the researchers should be aware of for the purposes of the project. Notes were taken during the interviews. It was later determined that more than enough material was available through the national statistical authorities for the purposes of this pilot project and the idea of using other databases was abandoned.

*Literature review*: Searches and reviews of previous research and grey literature (reports) were carried out continuously during the project. Previous research comparing pay between occupations of equal value with different gender compositions was found to be almost non-existent. Although several different reports, mainly produced by government agencies, mentioned the need to make pay comparisons between jobs of equal value in addition to conducting pay audits that look at pay structures, almost none have dealt with the issue in more detail.

*Review of the official occupational classifications of each country:* The occupational classifications AML 2010 in Finland, STYRK-08 in Norway and SSYK 2012 in Sweden were reviewed and compared against the DISCO-08 and Ístarf21 classifications in Denmark and Iceland respectively. Comparison of similarities and differences between the occupational classifications in Finland, Norway and Sweden was carried out and documented in Excel, occupation code by occupation code. The occupational classifications of the three countries were compared with the international standard ISCO-08.

The studies of national official statistics were conducted using a stepwise approach. Statistics from 2022 are used throughout, as well as some earlier comparison years. Statistics from 2022 were in many cases the most recently available at the start of the project.

*Orientation in existing statistics:* The available tables in each country's statistical databases from the national statistical offices were mapped. One of the authors concentrated on Sweden and Finland, the other on Norway.

The orientation involved examining available statistics by extracting various tables from the databases to ascertain the availability of suitable data on, for example, gender distributions by occupation, average pay in different occupations, pay gaps in different occupations, pay in different sectors, pay by working hours (full/part time) and pay by level of education. Through this process, several gaps were identified, although they differed between the statistical databases of the different countries. As the statistical databases are in many cases not fully comparable, it was decided following the orientation process to mostly use data from only one country to illustrate results.

Pair comparisons: Categorisations by the Swedish organisation Lönelotsarna (Harriman et al., 2023) were used when comparing the pay situation between pairs of male- and female-dominated occupations in which, according to the Lönelotsarna model, work of equal value is performed. These pairs were compared across all three countries. Harriman et al. guided the choice of occupational pairs; the remit for the pilot study did not include a valuation of occupations, but illustrating the shortcomings and applicability of the statistics required some kind of comparative material. While the evaluations by Harriman et al. are not indisputable, they are based on solid work. The pairwise comparisons illustrated mostly similar pay gaps between male- and female-dominated occupations in all three countries. As pay gaps within occupations were also identified, the interaction between intra- and inter-group pay gaps could be analysed.

*Special tabulations:* As the publicly available statistics in the statistical databases could not address all questions on age, education and part-time employment, specific tables were commissioned, which the statistical offices can supply at a cost. Three tables were ordered from Finland, one on age, one on education – both on levels and fields of education – and one on pay for full-time and part-time work. All tables were gender-disaggregated and based on the four-digit occupational classification.

In Sweden, age could be extracted from publicly available statistics. Data on education related to pay is also publicly available, although not based on occupational classifications, only the classification of education. Thus, only statistics on full-time and part-time pay for women and men in different occupations were requested.

The request for special tables on the Norwegian statistics was cancelled because no information was received as to whether the requested tables could be produced and within what time frame. After a period of waiting, it was decided that the requested Norwegian statistics could not be delivered to enable analysis within the time frame of the project. Analysing existing and commissioned statistics: The available tables from the statistical databases of the national statistical offices from the respective countries were analysed from a variety of perspectives, alongside the commissioned statistical tables, focusing on comparisons of pay in different (equal) occupations at the three- and four-digit levels of the occupational classifications, pay in different sectors, pay by working hours (full/part time), pay by level of education, pay by age and pay gaps measured using mean and median values.

*Finalising the report*: In the report, general findings are described using examples that show the kind of factors that might be interesting to investigate using official statistics. The recommendations were written based on the difficulties encountered during the exploratory research as well as insights into which aspects of the available statistics are worth investigating in pay comparisons between occupations in which work of equal value is performed.

# About this publication

# Towards Pay Equity: An exploratory study of national wage statistics in the Nordic countries

Minna Salminen-Karlsson and Anna Fogelberg Eriksson for NIKK, Nordic Information on Gender

TemaNord 2025:545

ISBN 978-92-893-8279-3 (PDF) ISBN 978-92-893-8280-9 (ONLINE) http://dx.doi.org/10.6027/temanord2025-545

© Nordic Council of Ministers 2025

Cover photo: Lieselotte van der Meijs/Image Bank Sweden

Other photos Chapter 1: Maskot/Folio/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 2: Margareta Bloom Sandebäck/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 3: Getty Images/Unsplash Chapter 4: Sofia Sabel/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 5: Getty Images/Unsplash Chapter 6: Susanne Walström/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 7: Sofia Sabel/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 8: Getty Images/Unsplash Chapter 9: Ann-Sofi Rosenkvist/Image Bank Sweden Chapter 10: Campaign Creators/Unsplash

Published: April 2025

#### Disclaimer

This publication was funded by the Nordic Council of Ministers. However, the content does not necessarily reflect the Nordic Council of Ministers' views, opinions, attitudes or recommendations.

#### **Rights and permissions**

This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license (CC BY 4.0) <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</u>.

**Translations:** If you translate this work, please include the following disclaimer: This translation was not produced by the Nordic Council of Ministers and should not be construed as official. The Nordic Council of Ministers cannot be held responsible for the translation or any errors in it.

**Adaptations:** If you adapt this work, please include the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This is an adaptation of an original work by the Nordic Council of Ministers. Responsibility for the views and opinions expressed in the adaptation rests solely with its author(s). The views and opinions in this adaptation have not been approved by the Nordic Council of Ministers.

**Third-party content:** The Nordic Council of Ministers does not necessarily own every single part of this work. The Nordic Council of Ministers cannot, therefore, guarantee that the reuse of third-party content does not infringe the copyright of the third party. If you wish to reuse any third-party content, you bear the risks associated with any such rights violations. You are responsible for determining whether there is a need to obtain permission for the use of third-party content, and if so, for obtaining the relevant permission from the copyright holder. Examples of third-party content may include, but are not limited to, tables, figures or images.

#### Photo rights (further permission required for reuse):

Any queries regarding rights and licences should be addressed to: Nordic Council of Ministers/Publication Unit Ved Stranden 18 DK-1061 Copenhagen Denmark pub@norden.org

#### Nordic co-operation

*Nordic co-operation* is one of the world's most extensive forms of regional collaboration, involving Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, Sweden, and the Faroe Islands, Greenland and Åland.

*Nordic co-operation* has firm traditions in politics, economics and culture and plays an important role in European and international forums. The Nordic community strives for a strong Nordic Region in a strong Europe.

*Nordic co-operation* promotes regional interests and values in a global world. The values shared by the Nordic countries help make the region one of the most innovative and competitive in the world.

The Nordic Council of Ministers Nordens Hus Ved Stranden 18 DK-1061 Copenhagen pub@norden.org

Read more Nordic publications on <u>www.norden.org/publications</u>